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The year at a glance
Total Allegations and Notifications

5,051 2,866
Allegations assessed

Investigations
conducted

27

Preliminary investigations

16

Independent investigations

19

Cooperative investigations

3 months of receipt

Notifications/reports received

Total Investigations

62

of notifications/reports

94.5% assessed within

29

days average assessment
duration for
notifications/reports

Public Sector – Allegations and Investigations

2,445

Allegations
assessed

Events

Participants

47

2,606

Allegations
of police
misconduct
assessed

15

95%
of those were referred
back to the appropriate
authority or independent
agency for action

Examinations

Investigations conducted1

Public
examinations
held in relation to

Private
examinations
held in relation to

investigations:

investigations:

2

WA Police Force – Allegations and Investigations

Capacity-Building Activities

11 600

1,675

Allegations
assessed as
requiring
further action

Investigations conducted2

4

Witnesses in 5 days

13
86

Witnesses in 63 days

Reports and Recommendations

13

Reports produced
and tabled in the
Parliament of
Western Australia

49

1

Recommendations
made to public
authorities
2

This represents the total
number of investigations,
pursuant to ss 33(1)(a) or (b)
and s 32(2) of the CCM Act, that
were either completed during,
or are still active/open at the
end of, the reporting period.
Refer Footnote 1.
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Significant achievements
FEBRUARY

APRIL

1 February 2018

4 April 2018

7-10 May 2018

Tabling of the Report
on Department of
Transport response
to Commission
recommendations

Public examinations
as part of the ongoing
investigation to
determine whether
two former IT
managers at Horizon
Power engaged in
corruption or serious
misconduct in the
performance of their
functions of office or
employment

OCTOBER
17 October 2017

Joint investigation
leads to successful
prosecution of a
Department of
Transport employee
over the unlawful
access and supply
of confidential
information from
a work database

DECEMBER
9 December 2017

NOVEMBER
2 November 2017
Tabling of the
Report on corruption
in respect of truck
driving licence
applications

Celebrating
International
Anti-Corruption Day
with an industry event
held in collaboration
with the Public Sector
Commission

18 December 2017
Tabling of the Report
on allegations of
serious misconduct
by councillors of the
City of Perth

Custodial officer
sentenced to four
years’ imprisonment
for smuggling drugs,
mobile phones and
other contraband
into Casuarina Prison
following a cooperative
investigation by the
Commission, the
WA Police Force and
the Department of
Corrective Services

4 April 2018

MARCH
6 March 2018
Corruption and Crime
Commission opens
the doors on its new
premises at 45 Francis
Street in Northbridge

13 March 2018
Former City of Perth
facilities officer pleads
guilty to corruption
and bribery charges

21 March 2018
Tabling of the Review
of police response
to an incident in a
country town

21 March 2018
Tabling of the Report
into a tasering incident
on 31 March 2017 at
Fremantle

2017
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Tabling of the
Implementation of
recommendations
arising from the
Commission’s
investigation into
Operation Aviemore

26-27 April 2018
Public examinations
as part of the
investigation to
determine whether
any public officer
employed by, or
elected to, the Shire of
Halls Creek may have
engaged in serious
misconduct in the
performance of their
functions of office or
employment

30 April 2018
Commission first uses
dual hearing rooms to
conduct examinations
simultaneously

MAY

11 May 2018
Tabling of the Report
into inadequate
supervision of
prisoners whilst in
the community

JUNE
26 June 2018
Tabling of the Report
on corrupt custodial
officers and the
risks of contraband
entering prisons

27 June 2018
Tabling of the Report
into inadequate use
of force reporting at
Eastern Goldfields
Regional Prison in
May 2017

27 June 2018

Information session
‘Encountering
Misconduct’ held at
the Commission as
part of the Law Society
of WA’s Law Week
program

Tabling of the Report
into inadequate use
of force reporting at
Eastern Goldfields
Regional Prison
on 27 March 2017
and Bunbury
Regional Prison on
14 November 2016

25 May 2018

27 June 2018

Tabling of the Report
on serious misconduct
risks around dangerous
drugs in hospitals

Tabling of the Report
into inadequate
use of force at
Hakea Prison on
21 March 2016

18 May 2018

2018
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Commissioner’s report
Western Australia is fortunate to be relatively corruption free.
Indeed, Australia ranks highly (as corruption free) on the
Transparency International Corruption Perceptions Index 2017.
Nevertheless, pockets of serious misconduct will be found.
The principal responsibility for dealing with serious misconduct
rests on Directors General and heads of agencies. Beyond them
lies the Commission.
The Commission is a comparatively small body so must choose
carefully what matters it will investigate, oversee or review.
The overarching principle in its choices is what will best serve
the public interest of the State. How will the State benefit from
Commission intervention and the exercise of its special powers?
Hon. John McKechnie, QC
COMMISSIONER

While most allegations are returned to a department or agency
for action, the remainder, whether in investigation, oversight or
review, have kept the Commission busy over the year.
Investigations can be complex and expensive. The Commission
is fortunate to have attracted skilled investigators, lawyers and
analysts to carry out its functions.
Along with specialist surveillance and electronic collection units,
the Commission is able to bring its focus to bear on serious
misconduct that may be a threat to the State or the public purse.

The new premises have two purpose-designed examination rooms
and they have already been utilised together by the Commissioner
and Acting Commissioner.
The Commission has produced a number of reports on its
investigations of alleged misconduct in the public sector.
It takes its role in respect of allegations of police misconduct
seriously and has refined its approach, selecting more matters for
oversight and review. The Commission continues to investigate
police misconduct directly as well.
The State is fortunate to have officers of integrity and
competence prepared to confront serious misconduct. I am
proud to be Commissioner.

Hon. John McKechnie, QC
COMMISSIONER

During the year, the Commission increased its productivity by
moving into new premises in Northbridge. This brought all the
Commission onto one floor with consequent improvement in
information sharing and collaboration.

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18 | 5

Commission
overview

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

5

Building
capacity

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Overview
The Commission

Finances

The Commission’s purpose is to maintain and enhance the
integrity of the Western Australian public sector, and to work
with public authorities to reduce serious misconduct,
including police misconduct.

Government appropriations for 2017-18 were $29.5 million.

The Commission was established on 1 January 2004 to:
• improve continuously the integrity of, and to reduce
the incidence of misconduct in, the public sector; and
• combat and reduce the incidence of organised crime.
The Commission reports to the Parliament of Western Australia.

Legislation
The Commission operates according to the Corruption, Crime
and Misconduct Act 2003 (CCM Act) with a focus on combatting
serious misconduct (including police misconduct) and organised
crime. Appendix A details the key legislation that underpins
the performance of the Commission’s functions and operations.
Under the CCM Act, the Public Sector Commission has
responsibility for dealing with minor misconduct and the
education of the public sector.

External oversight
The Commission is overseen by the Joint Standing Committee on
the Corruption and Crime Commission (JSCCCC), assisted by the
Parliamentary Inspector. The Attorney General has administrative
responsibility for the CCM Act and is the responsible Minister for
the Commission’s budget.

6 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

People
The Commission has 123 employees, including lawyers,
investigators, intelligence analysts, investigation support personnel,
assessment officers and corporate support personnel.
Figure 1: Commission structure

Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003

JSCCCC

Parliamentary
Inspector

Commissioner
Acting
Commissioner
Chief Executive and
Executive Team

Attorney
General
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Commissioner
Hon. John McKechnie, QC
Acting Commissioner
David Scott Ellis

Figure 2: Organisational structure3
Chief Executive
Ray Warnes

Acting Director Operations
Matthew Grant4

Director Assessment and
Strategy Development
Emma Johnson

Director Legal Services
Wendy Endebrock-Brown

Director Corporate Services
Emma Milne

Investigations

Assessment

Legal Services

Business Services

Electronic Collection Unit

Oversight

Covert Powers

People Services

Investigation Surveillance

Strategic Intelligence

Information Services

Security and Facilities

3
4

As at 30 June 2018.
From 23 April to 31 August 2018, Matthew Grant acted as Director Operations. David Robinson was seconded to the Public Sector Commission from 30 April 2018.

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18 | 7

Commission
overview

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Senior officers
Commissioner
Hon. John McKechnie, QC
Appointed for a term of five years from 28 April 2015

Acting Commissioner
David Scott Ellis
Approved to act in the office of Commissioner
from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019 (inclusive)

Chief Executive
Ray Warnes
Appointed on 10 August 2015

Acting Director Operations
Matthew Grant
Appointed on 23 April 2018
Back row (L-R): Wendy Endebrock-Brown, Emma Milne, Emma Johnson, Matthew Grant
Front row (L-R): David Scott Ellis, Hon. John McKechnie QC, Ray Warnes

The Commission is comprised of four directorates
which work collaboratively to improve the integrity of the
Western Australian public sector and to help public
authorities minimise and manage serious misconduct.
Together the Commission’s senior officers form the Corporate
Executive. The Executive are supported in their roles by
deputy and assistant directors and a range of specialist and
highly-trained employees including lawyers, investigators,
intelligence analysts, investigation support personnel,
assessment officers and corporate support personnel.
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Director Assessment and
Strategy Development
Emma Johnson
Appointed on 5 September 2016

Director Legal Services
Wendy Endebrock-Brown
Appointed on 6 July 2015

Director Corporate Services
Emma Milne
Appointed on 5 September 2016
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Performance management framework
Outcome-Based Management Framework
Broad State Government goals are supported at the Commission
by specific outcomes, achieved through the delivery of services.
Table 1 illustrates the relationship between the Commission’s
services, the desired outcomes and the Government goal to

which it contributes. The key effectiveness indicators provide a
measure of the extent to which the delivery of services contributes
to achieving the desired outcomes. The key efficiency indicators
monitor the relationship between the service delivered and the
resources used to produce the service.

Table 1: The Commission’s contribution to the Government of Western Australia’s Results-Based Service Delivery Goal
Government
goal5

Results-Based Service Delivery
Strong communities: Safe communities and supported families

Desired
outcomes

The integrity of the public sector continuously
improves and the incidence of misconduct
is reduced

Reduced incidence of organised crime

Services

1. Building public sector agency integrity and
capacity to deal with misconduct

2. Organised crime function

Key
effectiveness
indicators

Number of allegations received
Number of reports published in accordance
with the CCM Act

Key efficiency
indicators

5

Average cost of service per full-time equivalent
(FTE) employed within public authorities under
the Commission’s jurisdiction

Number of applications for exceptional powers findings or
fortification warning notices received within the financial year
Number of applications for exceptional powers findings or
fortification warning notices dealt with within the financial year
Average time taken to deal with applications for exceptional
powers findings or fortification warning notices
Average cost per matter involving the use of exceptional
powers and fortification warning notices over the financial year

In 2018-19 the Commission will change its services and key
performance indicators.
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Performance management framework (continued)
Changes to the Commission’s Outcome-Based
Management Framework
The Commission’s Outcome-Based Management Framework
did not change during 2017-18.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other
agencies in 2017-18.

Actual results versus budget targets
In order to demonstrate accountability and stewardship of
resources provided, the Commission is required to explain
variations between the annual financial and key performance
indicator targets and actual results for the financial year.
The Commission’s actual results versus its budget targets are
detailed in Table 2 and Table 3.

Table 2: Financial targets – actual results versus budget targets
2017-18
Target(6)
$'000

2017-18
Actual
$'000

Variation(7)
$'000

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

30,173

28,730

(1,443)(a)

Net cost of services
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

30,133

28,576

(1,557)(b)

Total equity
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position)

26,786

24,762

(2,024)(c)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)

(5,544)

(4,939)

(605)(d)

Approved salary expense level

17,846

17,326

(520)(e)

Financial targets

As specified in the Budget Statements.
7 Further explanations are contained in Note 9.9 ‘Explanatory
statement’ to the financial statements.
(a)
The variation is mainly due to lower accommodation
expenses than anticipated due to the relocation of the
Commission to new office premises in Northbridge.
(b)
The variation is as per (a) above.
(c)
The variation is primarily due to the return of cash to the
Consolidated Account during the financial year following
a review by Treasury of agencies’ cash balances.
(d)
The variation is as per (c) above.
(e)
The variation is due to vacancies and delays in
filling positions.
6
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Performance management framework (continued)
Table 3: Key Performance Indicator summary – actual results versus budget targets
Financial and non-financial targets

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

Variation8

Outcome 1: The integrity of the public sector continuously improves and the incidence of misconduct is reduced
Service 1: Building public sector agency integrity and capacity to deal with misconduct
Key effectiveness indicators:
Number of allegations received

4,800

5,051

251

6

13

7

$196

$179

$17

Number of applications for exceptional powers findings and fortification warning
notices received within the financial year

0

0

0

Number of applications for exceptional powers findings and fortification warning
notices dealt with within the financial year

0

0

0

Average time taken to deal with applications for exceptional powers findings and
fortification warning notices

NA

NA

NA

$0

$0

$0

Number of reports published in accordance with the CCM Act
Key efficiency indicators:
Average cost of service per FTE employed within public authorities under the
Commission’s jurisdiction
Outcome 2: Reduced incidence of organised crime
Service 2: Organised crime function
Key effectiveness indicators:

Key efficiency indicators:

8

Explanations for variations between target and
actual results are prescribed in the audited key
performance indicators.

Average cost per matter involving the use of exceptional powers and fortification
warning notices over the financial year
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct
Key results:

5,051

Allegations assessed

2,866

Notifications/reports received

94.5%

29

Notifications/reports
assessed within
3 months of receipt9
Days to assess on average10

The Commission has responsibility for assessing all allegations
of serious misconduct within the public sector and ensuring
that they are appropriately dealt with either by the Commission
or another public authority. The Commission may receive an
allegation of serious misconduct from a number of different
sources, including:
• a notifying authority;11
• a member of the public;12
• the Commissioner of Police;13 or
• the Public Sector Commission.14
The Commission can also make propositions and initiate
allegations of suspected serious misconduct, based upon its own
experience and knowledge or from information obtained from
other sources.15
The Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate assesses
all allegations received by the Commission. The purpose of the
assessment process is to form an opinion as to whether there is

Figures are based on the time taken for an initial assessment of a notification/report
to be completed (this includes notifications/reports carried over from the previous
reporting period).
10 Refer Footnote above.
11 Certain officers, for example the principal officer of a notifying authority, Ombudsman
Western Australia or Inspector of Custodial Services, must notify suspected serious
misconduct under s 28 of the CCM Act.
12 Members of the public can make reports of alleged serious misconduct under s 25
of the CCM Act.
13 The Commissioner of Police must report matters that concern, or may concern, reviewable
police action pursuant to s 21A of the CCM Act.
14 The Public Sector Commission refers serious misconduct to the Commission under
s 45M(d) of the CCM Act.
15 The Commission may initiate allegations of serious misconduct by way of propositions
under s 26 of the CCM Act.
9

a reasonable suspicion that serious misconduct has or may have
occurred, is or may be occurring, is or may be about to occur, or
is likely to occur, and to make a decision on what action (if any)
should be taken.
Assessment officers consider a number of factors in the assessment
process, including:
• whether or not the allegation is within the Commission’s
jurisdiction, for example, if the allegation involves a
Western Australian public officer and meets the definition
of ‘serious misconduct’;
• the nature of the alleged serious misconduct;
• the seniority of the public officer(s) involved;
• whether there is a need for an independent investigation;
and
• whether or not further information is required before an
assessment decision can be made.
Allegations of serious misconduct that meet certain criteria,
including, but not limited to, one or more of the following
elements, are escalated to the Commission’s Operations
Committee for consideration:
• involvement of senior public officers or elected officials;
• collusion;
• significant financial loss;
• serious injury;
• threat to public safety;
• threat to government or public authority integrity;
• areas of strategic importance; and
• systemic issues.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
Definitions:
Public authorities include Western
Australian State Government
departments, the WA Police Force,
local governments, tertiary bodies,
port authorities and some boards.
Public officers include all public
sector employees, members of
government boards and committees,
local government elected officials
and employees, employees of public
universities, employees of public
utilities and some volunteers.
Senior public officers include chief
executives, senior executives,
commissioned police officers, and
superintendents and more senior
officers working within Corrective
Services in the Department of Justice.

During the reporting period, 273 allegations were escalated to
the Operations Committee, representing approximately 5% of
the total 5,051 allegations assessed.
The Operations Committee has responsibility for prioritising
and allocating Commission resources and recommending to the
Commissioner what further actions (if any) should be taken in
response to allegations referred to it. Allegations that are not
considered by the Operations Committee are finalised by the
Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate.
The Commission may seek further information during the
assessment process by consulting with external agencies,
individuals and/or other intelligence sources to help inform
its assessment decision.
Once an allegation is assessed, the Commission decides
whether to:
• investigate or take action itself;
• investigate or take action in cooperation with an
independent agency or appropriate authority;
• refer the matter to an independent agency or appropriate
authority for action; or
• take no action (the Commission will advise the person or
public authority making the report if this is the case).
Figure 3 illustrates the Commission’s assessment and
decision-making process in relation to allegations received.
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It is important that the assessment process is responsive and an
assessment decision is reached in a timely manner so that prompt
and appropriate action can be taken in relation to an allegation if
required. The Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate
monitors the Commission’s assessment process and time taken to
complete assessments. Importantly, during 2017-18 an average
assessment duration of 29 days was achieved, with 94.5% of
notifications/reports assessed within three months of receipt.

Planned changes to the Commission’s
Guidelines for Notification of
Serious Misconduct
Coinciding with the transfer of responsibility for minor misconduct
to the Public Sector Commission on 1 July 2015, the Commission
issued Guidelines for Notification of Serious Misconduct under
the CCM Act s 30 for all public sector authorities (except the WA
Police Force, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Inspector of
Custodial Services and the Parliamentary Inspector).
The Commission plans to issue a revised guide in 2018-19 in
conjunction with the Public Sector Commission.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
Allegation received

Minor misconduct
(disclosed to Public Sector
Commission)

Figure 3: The Commission’s assessment
and decision-making process
Assessment
of allegation by
the Assessment
and Strategy
Development
Directorate

Intelligence
Consultation with
external agencies or
individuals
Legal advice

Yes

Progress reporting
and oversight

Decision to conduct
preliminary investigation

No further
action

Meets Operations
Committee criteria?

No

Finalisation
by the Assessment and
Strategy Development
Directorate

Operations
Committee

Decision to conduct
investigation

Disclosure to another agency
or body

Out of jurisdiction

Referral to relevant public
sector authority for
action with review by
the Commission

Review

Referral to appropriate
authority for action with
monitor outcome only
by the Commission
Notiﬁcation of
outcome

Record outcome
notiﬁed to the
Commission and take
no further action

No further
action

Closed

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18 | 15

Profile of serious
misconduct

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

5

Building
capacity

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
CASE STUDY 1

CASE STUDY 2

Allegation escalated to the
Operations Committee

Allegation finalised by the Assessment and
Strategy Development Directorate

Allegation
The WA Police Force notified the Commission of a
decision made by two officers not to issue a speeding
infringement to a speed camera operator, despite
those same officers having issued infringements to
other drivers caught speeding on the same stretch of
road. The apparent preferential treatment afforded
to the speed camera operator drew media attention,
as well as comment from the Minister of Police.

Allegation
The Public Sector Commission referred a report it received
from a local government concerning a public officer suspected
of consistently acting with bias toward one contractor, at the
expense of another, to the Commission. The local government’s
report advised that an external consultant had been appointed
to investigate the alleged conduct and that the public officer
had been stood down pending the outcome of its inquiry.

Assessment
The Commission’s assessment considered relevant
WA Police Force records, including those pertaining
to the internal investigation into the matter. Given
its potential to undermine the public’s confidence
in the WA Police Force, the matter was escalated
to the Commission’s Operations Committee for
consideration. The assessment recommended the
Commission refer the matter to the WA Police Force
for action and, depending on the outcome, consider
whether further action was warranted.
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Outcome
The WA Police Force investigation found the
officers had appropriately exercised discretion when
issuing the speed camera operator with a caution,
while noting that incorrect road signage of the
reduced speed limit may have resulted in driver
confusion. The WA Police Force also reviewed all
other infringements issued along the same stretch
of road over the relevant period and determined
they be withdrawn and any fines already paid be
refunded, as well as clearing any demerit points
incurred from the affected drivers’ licences.

Assessment
The Commission sought further information directly from the
local government, which provided a copy of the concluded
investigation report and advice that the public officer’s
employment had been terminated. The Commission took into
account the actions taken by the local government and decided
no further action was necessary, other than to record the
allegations as sustained.
Outcome
While the Commission took no further action in respect to
the matter, it noted the local government’s apparent failure
to identify the public officer’s actions as possible serious
misconduct (corruptly taking advantage of their position to
obtain a benefit and/or to cause a detriment). The Commission
subsequently reminded the local government of its legislative
obligation to report allegations of serious misconduct directly
to the Commission.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
Key results:

Preliminary investigations

27

In some cases, in order to properly assess allegations of serious
misconduct, the Commission may conduct a preliminary
investigation. The purpose of a preliminary investigation is to
obtain enough information to make an informed decision about
what further action should be taken. A preliminary investigation
can range from gathering and analysing additional information to
conducting interviews and utilising some of the powers available
to the Commission, such as obtaining information from public
authorities or individuals under a CCM Act s 95 notice
to produce.

Preliminary investigations
conducted16

21

Preliminary investigations
completed

231

Days to complete
on average

A decision to commence a preliminary investigation, including the
scope of the investigation, is recommended by the Operations
Committee and approved by the Commissioner.
It is important that preliminary investigations are completed in
a timely manner to enable an assessment decision to be made,
and prompt and appropriate action to be taken in response to
an allegation of serious misconduct. The Operations Committee
monitors the progress and timeliness of the Commission’s
preliminary investigations. In 2017-18, preliminary investigations
were completed in an average of 231 days, compared to an
average of 162 days in 2016-17.

16

In addition to the 27 preliminary investigations conducted
in 2017-18, 10 preliminary investigations progressed to full
investigations.

Includes the number of preliminary investigations completed during the reporting period and
the number still active at the end of the reporting period. These figures do not include the
preliminary investigations that progressed to full investigations during the reporting period.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
CASE STUDY 3
Preliminary investigation –
corruption risks in a university
Allegation
The Commission received an allegation that a professor at a
Western Australian university may have committed serious
misconduct by successfully applying for funding of almost
$1.5 million for a research project that had already been
substantially completed.
Preliminary investigation
The Commission conducted private examinations of witnesses
and used its investigative powers to gather evidence, including
interviews with an expert in the field. A search warrant was also
executed to seize material from the university.
The preliminary investigation revealed two important factors.
Firstly, the professor did not receive any personal financial
benefits from the funding. Secondly, it is not unusual for
professors to begin preliminary work on a research proposal
before applying for funding to ensure their application
is appropriate.
Outcome
Based on its preliminary investigation, the Commission did not
form an opinion of serious misconduct against the professor.
However, it did identify a number of corruption risks in the
university sector, especially when people are applying for and
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receiving funding from external organisations. The Commission’s
investigation highlighted that universities should be vigilant in
ensuring that:
• when a university becomes a party to a research funding
agreement, relevant university employees who are
independent of the research team must be familiar with the
university’s contractual obligations and monitor compliance;
• employees are adequately supervised to ensure that they, and
the university, are fulfilling the contract requirements; and
• public officers, particularly academic employees, are made
aware that submitting deceitful or dishonest information in a
funding application is likely to amount to serious misconduct
and possibly fraud.
The Commission concluded its investigation and advised the
university of the outcome.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct (continued)
CASE STUDY 4
Preliminary investigation – alleged serious
misconduct relating to procurement
and recruitment
Allegation
The Commission received a notification from a government
department that two of its employees involved in contracting
may have engaged in serious misconduct by manipulating
procurement processes and recruiting people based on
pre-existing relationships, instead of merit-based selection.
Preliminary investigation
The Commission’s investigation focussed on three separate
allegations – two relating to recruitment and one relating to
the awarding of procurement contracts. During the preliminary
investigation, the Commission was provided with further
information by the government department, and also conducted
private examinations of the persons of interest and other
witnesses.
Outcome
While the Commission did not form an opinion of serious
misconduct against either of the employees, it did identify
significant risks associated with the manner in which they
engaged with contractors and potential employees with
whom they had a current or historic association.

The preliminary investigation highlighted the need for public
authorities to:
• ensure all public officers have completed procurement
training before performing procurement duties;
• communicate conflict-of-interest policies with public officers
to effectively identify and manage any potential or perceived
conflicts-of-interest in the workplace;
• remind public officers that, in addition to declaring a
conflict-of-interest before entering a procurement process,
they must also declare a conflict-of-interest during the entire
course of a contract to safeguard any new personal interests,
relationships or changes in circumstances;
• have effective oversight measures in place, particularly to
monitor procurement practices and encourage ongoing
compliance with contractual and purchasing agreements;
and
• inform public officers they can seek procurement advice
from the Department of Finance if they are unsure about the
Government of Western Australia’s procurement practices.
The Commission concluded its investigation and advised the
department of the outcome. In addition, it contacted the
Department of Finance with recommendations in relation to
the Declaration of Interest and Confidentiality form that is
distributed during the procurement process.
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Overview of serious misconduct allegations
Definitions:
Reviewable police action represents
a wider definition of reportable
misconduct for police, both sworn
and unsworn officers, than for the
public sector. It includes actions that
are contrary to law, unreasonable,
unjust or discriminatory.

The Commission assessed 5,051 allegations during 2017-18,
compared to 4,939 in 2016-17. While the number of allegations
has remained relatively constant, the proportion of allegations
reported to the Commission by members of the public has
increased to 36.1% (1,823) in 2017-18, up from 28.1% (1,388)
in 2016-17.
This rise is likely due to the Commission’s increased website
and social media presence, and other initiatives aimed at
encouraging the public to report suspected serious misconduct

to the Commission. Increasing the number of reports received from
members of the public is important as it contributes to providing
the Commission with a balanced profile of notifications and reports
relating to the Western Australian public sector.
Table 4 outlines the source of allegations received by the
Commission during 2016-17 and 2017-18.

Table 4: Source of allegation
Allegation source

CCM Act

Allegations of serious misconduct reported by individuals
(the public)

%

No.

%

s 25

1,388

28.1%

1,823

36.1%

Allegations of serious misconduct notified by public authorities

s 28

3,289

66.6%

3,072

60.8%

Allegations of reviewable police action (WA Police Force)

s 21A

49

1.0%

26

0.5%

Commission’s propositions of alleged serious misconduct

s 26

20

0.4%

10

0.2%

Other information received

s 22

8

0.2%

1

0.02%

185

3.7%

119

2.4%

4,939

100%

5,051

100%18

17

Total

18
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2017-18

No.

Allegations of serious misconduct referred from
the Public Sector Commission

17

2016-17

This category was previously referred to as ‘Allegations initiated’.
Calculation to 100% may vary across all tables due to rounding rule applied to figures.

s 45M(d)
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Overview of serious misconduct allegations (continued)
The Commission continually reviews how it records and reports on
information relating to allegations of serious misconduct to ensure
it remains relevant and meaningful. The Commission categorises all
allegations assessed within one of four allegation themes:
1.	Criminal (for example, assault, fraud, stealing, unlawful use
of a computer);
2.	Neglect/Procedural (for example, neglect of duty, breach of
code of conduct/policy or procedure);

Figure 4: WA Police Force allegations by theme
3.2%

5%

3.	Personal (for example, conflict of interest, unprofessional
conduct); or
4.	Information (for example, breach of confidentiality,
misuse of information).
Figure 4 and Figure 5 show the total number of allegations
across the WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector
during 2017-18, broken down by allegation theme.

Figure 5: Public sector allegations by theme
2.4%
3.6%
10.9%

33.7%

25.4%

22.1%

61%

32.7%

Criminal

Information

Criminal

Information

Neglect/Procedural

No allegation

Neglect/Procedural

No allegation

Personal

Personal
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Overview of serious misconduct allegations (continued)
Table 5: Allegation theme
Allegation theme

%

No.

%

No.

Criminal

878

33.7%

1,460

61.0%

25

Neglect/Procedural

852

32.7%

530

22.1%

5

Personal

663

25.4%

260

10.9%

8

No allegation19

130

5.0%

58

2.4%

13

83

3.2%

85

3.6%

1

2,606

100%

2,393

100%

52

Total

Table 5 compares the total number of allegations across the WA
Police Force and the rest of the public sector during 2017-18,
broken down by allegation theme.

This category refers to the situation where the Commission
receives a notification or report, but no allegation of serious
misconduct can be identified or ascertained from the
material provided.
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Not in
jurisdiction

Public sector

No.

Information

19

WA Police Force

In 2017-18, over half (approximately 52%) of all the WA Police
Force allegations classified under the criminal theme related
to either ‘Assault/Excessive Use of Force’ or ‘Unlawful Use
of a Computer’. This reflects the nature of the work and the
misconduct risks inherent in policing. Across the rest of the public
sector, alleged ‘Corrupt Conduct’ and ‘Using Position for Benefit/
Detriment’ featured prominently, accounting for 39% of allegations
classified under the criminal theme.
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Overview of serious misconduct allegations (continued)
Figure 6: WA Police Force versus public
sector allegations
1.0%

47.4%

Figure 6 represents the total number of allegations broken
down by the WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector.
As expected, due to its additional minor misconduct reporting
requirements, the WA Police Force remains the subject of
more than half of all allegations (approximately 52%) received
by the Commission.

Table 6 shows the total number of allegations by subject authority.
The number of local government-related allegations has continued
to rise, up to 761 in 2017-18 from 550 in 2016-17. This upward
trend has seen local government-related allegations more than
double since 2015-16. They now represent approximately 15% of
all allegations assessed by the Commission and almost one-third
(31.8%) of public sector allegations.

51.6%

Table 6: Allegations by subject authority
WA Police Force

Not in jurisdiction

Subject authority

%

No.

%

2,637

53.4%

2,606

51.6%

Independent agencies20 and other authorities

769

15.6%

538

10.7%

Local governments

550

11.1%

761

15.1%

WA Health21

348

7.0%

328

6.5%

Department of Education

232

4.7%

403

8.0%

Department of Justice22

338

6.8%

363

7.2%

65

1.3%

52

1.0%

4,939

100%

5,051

100%

WA Police Force

Independent agency means the Office of the Auditor
General, Director of Public Prosecutions, Public Sector
Commissioner, Parliamentary Commissioner (more
commonly known as the Ombudsman) and the Inspector
of Custodial Services.
21 WA Health refers to the whole of the Western Australian
public health system and includes the Department of Health.
22 Department of Justice now includes Corrective Services
and the Attorney General following the Machinery of
Government changes.

2017-18

No.

Public sector

20

2016-17

Not in jurisdiction
Total
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Analysis of serious misconduct trends
The Commission analyses allegations received and information
obtained from investigations to identify corruption and
misconduct trends, patterns and emerging risks. The Commission
has a strategic intelligence function, the primary objective of
which is to provide advice to the Commission and the broader
public sector on trends and areas of risk for serious misconduct
and corruption.
This analysis and reporting helps to inform priority-setting and
ensure the Commission remains positioned to face the challenges
of existing and emerging serious misconduct risks.
In 2017-18, the Strategic Intelligence Team completed a number
of projects aimed at informing the Commission’s decision-making.
The majority of these reports were disseminated internally.
The Commission continued analysing patterns of behaviour
and assessing environmental factors and their potential impacts
on serious misconduct and corruption. It also continued to
develop its strategic priority framework, allocating resources and
identifying risks associated with each of the Commission’s five
strategic themes:
1. At-Risk Individuals;
2. Data & Information;
3. Regulation & Licensing;
4. Procurement; and
5. Use of Force.
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Identifying and profiling serious misconduct in accordance with
these themes continues to enable the Commission to proactively
target corruption and serious misconduct ‘hot spots’ and threats,
and to direct its resources and activities where the most impact in
improving the integrity of the public sector can be achieved.
In addition to these themes, oversight of the WA Police Force
continues to be an ongoing priority for the Commission due to
the additional legislative requirements.
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Uncovering corruption and serious misconduct

In addition to notifications from public authorities and reports
from the public about serious misconduct, the Commission can
make propositions about suspected serious misconduct using
information available from a range of sources.23 Propositions
are important as they enable the Commission to be proactive in
responding to, and dealing with, serious misconduct matters and
areas of risk within the public sector, rather than relying solely
on the notifications and reports received. This is particularly
relevant given the significant information and knowledge that

23

the Commission amasses from its assessments, investigations and
other sources, which may form the basis for a proposition.
In 2017-18, two of the Commission’s propositions resulted in
investigations aimed at identifying instances and risks of
serious misconduct related to the Commission’s priority area,
the WA Police Force. These investigations remain active.

The Commission may make propositions about serious
misconduct under s 26 of the CCM Act.
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Taking action to combat and disrupt serious misconduct
Dealing with serious misconduct and corruption in the public
sector is the responsibility of all public officers. The heads of
public authorities have primary responsibility for managing serious
misconduct and corruption within their own organisation.
The Commission focusses its efforts on significant matters and
high-priority areas where the greatest impact on improving the
integrity of the public sector can be achieved. There are a range of
responses the Commission can apply in combatting and disrupting
serious misconduct including:
•
•
•
•

•

•

24

The Commissioner is accountable for all decisions, activities
and outcomes of the Operations Committee and may join
the Operations Committee to participate in discussions and
receive advice directly.

investigating matters either by itself or in cooperation with
an appropriate authority or independent agency;
monitoring and reviewing appropriate authority responses
to serious misconduct matters;
providing information to public authorities and
other agencies;
producing reports to raise awareness across the public
sector and enable informed action to be taken in relation
to serious misconduct risks;
making recommendations to public sector authorities
about prosecuting and taking disciplinary or other action;
and
making recommendations to the Parliament of
Western Australia about changes to law.

Operations Committee
The Operations Committee is responsible for ensuring that
operational activities support the Commission’s goal of reducing
the incidence of serious misconduct in the most effective and
efficient manner. The Operations Committee24 comprises the
Chief Executive as Chair, Directors and invited officers. It directs
and oversees the Commission’s operational activities in five areas:
1. Assessments;
2. Investigations;
3. Oversight;
4. Capacity-building; and
5. Covert Powers Inspections.
While the majority of serious misconduct allegations received by
the Commission are assessed and dealt with by the Assessment
and Strategy Development Directorate, some allegations are
referred to the Operations Committee for consideration.
The Operations Committee provides advice and recommendations,
for the Commissioner’s approval, on the action to be taken in
relation to serious misconduct allegations referred to it, which
may include:
• conducting a preliminary investigation;
• conducting an investigation (independently or in cooperation
with an appropriate authority or independent agency);
• referring the allegation to an appropriate authority for action
with monitoring and/or review by the Commission;
• referring the allegation to an independent agency for action;
or
• taking no further action.
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Taking action to combat and disrupt serious misconduct
(continued)
Table 7 shows the action taken by the Commission in relation to the allegations assessed during 2016-17 and 2017-18.
Table 7: Action taken in relation to allegations25
Action taken in relation to allegations

2017-18

No.

%

No.

%

2,953
2,740
188
25

59.8%
55.5%
3.8%
0.5%

3,376
2,584
510
204
78

66.8%
51.2%
10.1%
4.0%
1.5%

1,880

38.1%

1,593

31.5%

1,772
102
6
59

35.9%
2.1%
0.1%
1.2%

1,480
113
0
47

29.3%
2.2%
0.0%
0.9%

43

0.9%

28

0.6%

16

0.3%

19

0.4%

Allegations the subject of preliminary investigation by
the Commission – s 32(2)

37

0.7%

35

0.7%

Refer to Operations Committee – pending a decision

10

0.2%

0

0.0%

4,939

100%

5,051

100%

No further action taken – s 33(1)(d)
- no further action taken
- no further action (record outcome)26
- disclose to the Public Sector Commission
- disclose to other agency
Allegations referred to an appropriate authority or independent
agency for action – s 33(1)(c)
- referred to appropriate authority – monitor for outcome
- referred to appropriate authority – monitor for review
- referred to independent agency
Commission to investigate – ss 33(1)(a) - (b)
- in cooperation with appropriate authority
or independent agency – s 33(1)(b)
- independently – s 33(1)(a)

The data in the table is representative of the actions taken
in relation to allegations at a point in time. In accordance
with the CCM Act, having made a decision to act under
s 33(1)(a), (b) or (c) in relation to an allegation, the
Commission may at any time decide to act under another
of those paragraphs.
26 In 2017-18, the Commission began recording the number of
allegations where no further action was taken because the
allegation had been dealt with by the notifying authority
and the outcome formed part of the notification.

2016-17

25
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Taking action to combat and disrupt serious misconduct
(continued)
In 2017-18, the Commission took no further action in relation to
two-thirds of the 5,051 allegations assessed. This was mainly due
to the:
• allegation not relating to serious misconduct (and therefore
not coming under the jurisdiction of the Commission);
• allegation being appropriately dealt with; or
• Commission being unable to form a reasonable suspicion
of serious misconduct.
Of the allegations made, 4% potentially concerned minor
misconduct and were therefore disclosed to the Public Sector
Commission, with no further action taken by the Commission.
This figure is in line with that of the previous reporting period.
The Commission decided that 1,675 allegations involving serious
misconduct required further action, of which the majority (1,593)
were referred to an appropriate authority or independent
agency for action.
The Commission may monitor the progress of the action taken
by an appropriate authority and/or review how the appropriate
authority deals with the allegation. During this reporting period,
113 allegations were referred to an appropriate authority to be
actively monitored and reviewed by the Commission, compared to
102 allegations in 2016-17.

For the remaining 82 allegations, the Commission decided
to conduct preliminary investigations (into 35 allegations),
independent investigations (into 19 allegations) or investigations
in cooperation with an appropriate authority or independent
agency (into 28 allegations).
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Taking action to combat and disrupt serious misconduct
(continued)
Table 8 shows the action taken by the Commission in relation to the allegations concerning the WA Police Force, compared to the rest of
the public sector.
Table 8: Action taken in relation to allegations by sector27

No further action taken – s 33(1)(d)
- no further action taken
- no further action (record outcome)28
- disclose to the Public Sector Commission
- disclose to other agency
Allegations referred to an appropriate authority
or independent agency for action – s 33(1)(c)
- referred to appropriate authority – monitor for outcome
- referred to appropriate authority – monitor for review
- referred to independent agency
Commission to investigate – ss 33(1)(a) - (b)
- in cooperation with appropriate authority
or independent agency – s 33(1)(b)
- independently – s 33(1)(a)
Allegations the subject of preliminary investigation by the Commission – s 32(2)
Refer to Operations Committee – pending a decision
Total

27
28

Refer Footnote 25.
Refer Footnote 26.

Recognising the serious nature of misconduct risks in policing and
the resultant need for a greater level of Commission oversight in
certain circumstances, 75 allegations were referred to the WA Police
Force for action and were subject to review by the Commission,
compared to 38 allegations for the rest of the public sector.
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WA Police
Force

Public
sector

Not in
jurisdiction

1,578
1,257
321
-

1,746
1,276
189
204
77

52
51

995

598

920
75
19

560
38
28

18

10

1

18

14

21

-

-

2,606

2,393

1

52

The Commission also referred a further 920 allegations
(approximately 35%) to the WA Police Force for action with the
Commission notified of the final outcome only, reflecting the
Commission’s general confidence in the public authority’s ability to
deal with misconduct matters internally.
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Investigations
Key results:

35

The Commission investigates matters which are serious and
significant, and where it believes it can have the most impact
in improving the integrity of the public sector. Appendix B details
all investigations, including preliminary investigations, conducted
by the Commission during 2017-18.

Investigations conducted29

Cooperative investigations
16
19

Independent
investigations
Cooperative investigations
with an appropriate
authority or independent
agency of which 11
were cooperative
investigations with
the WA Police Force

13

This represents the total number of investigations, pursuant to s 33(1)(a) or (b) of the
CCM Act, that were either completed during, or are still active/open at the end of,
the reporting period (including those currently before the courts).
30 Investigation duration calculations exclude any time the matter spent before the courts
and include any time the matter spent as a preliminary investigation (where relevant).
31 Ombudsman Western Australia oversees the Commission’s use of telecommunications
interception under the Telecommunications (Interception and Access Act) 1979 (Cth) and
Telecommunications (Interception) Western Australia Act 1996.
32 Commonwealth Ombudsman oversees the Commission’s access to stored communications
and telecommunications data under the Telecommunications (Interception and Access Act)
1979 (Cth) and the Commission’s use of surveillance devices under the Surveillance Devices
Act 2004 (Cth).
33 Parliamentary Inspector oversees the Commission’s compliance with the Surveillance
Devices Act 1998 (WA) and laws of the State.
29

Investigations completed

317

The Commission may decide to conduct an independent
investigation or a cooperative investigation with an independent
agency or appropriate authority. The Commission continues to
work with public authorities to investigate allegations of serious
misconduct. This approach provides a number of benefits such
as sharing of information and resources, making the investigation
process more efficient. It also allows public authorities to manage
their own risks during the investigation process and to take greater
ownership of any outcomes.

Days to complete
on average30

Timely investigations
It is important that the Commission’s investigations are completed
in a timely manner so that any issues identified can be dealt
with swiftly by the relevant parties. The Operations Committee
monitors the progress and timeliness of investigations according
to internal performance measures. Improved efficiencies within
the investigation process have led to a significant decrease in the
average time taken to complete an investigation – although the
317 days taken in 2017-18 is slightly higher than the 297 days
in 2016-17, it is still a significant improvement on the 427 days
in 2015-16.

Powers available to the Commission
Serious misconduct, and especially corruption, often occurs in
secret and for this reason the Commission has a range of powers it
can use to conduct investigations.
The Commission can request public authorities and individuals
provide information and documents, and can hold private and
public examinations in which persons are required to attend and
answer questions. It can also enter and search public premises
without warrant and, under warrant, seize relevant material,
intercept telephone communications and use surveillance devices.
The Commission also has the power to assess the honesty of
public officers by conducting integrity tests. Commission officers
can use assumed identities to conduct covert activities as part of
investigations.
These, and other powers, are subject to strict approval processes
and are closely monitored by the Ombudsman Western Australia31,
Commonwealth Ombudsman32 and the Parliamentary Inspector33.
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Investigations (continued)
Key results:

Appendix C outlines some of the statutory powers used by the
Commission in the performance of its functions during 2017-18.

Public examinations were
conducted in relation to
2 investigations, during which

In practice, a serious misconduct investigation will involve the use
of some or all of the Commission’s powers. The Commission is very
conscious of the intrusive nature of these powers on individual
rights and freedoms, and applies the principle of ‘least intrusion’.
For example, if a person is willing to provide a document, the
Commission will not use its power to compel a person to do so
unless there is a need to protect the interests of the person.

4

Witnesses were examined
over 5 days
All public examinations
live-streamed

Private examinations were
conducted in relation to
13 investigations, during which

86

Witnesses were examined
over 63 days

Compulsory examinations
The compulsory examination of a person by the Commission,
where the person is asked to answer questions about a matter
being investigated, is an investigative tool. It is not the same as a
hearing conducted by a court or tribunal and no finding is made
about guilt or innocence. The purpose of an examination is to
obtain information to advance an investigation by the Commission
into an allegation of serious misconduct.
The Commission may open an examination to the public if,
having weighed the benefits of public exposure and public
awareness against the potential for prejudice or privacy
infringements, it considers that it is in the public interest to do
so. In 2017-18, the Commission conducted public examinations
in relation to two investigations. These public examinations were
made more accessible to the public through live-streaming –
with 5,950 Commission website page views over the seven days
of examinations.
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Investigation themes
The Commission focusses its investigation resources on areas
of serious misconduct risk. The Commission has identified five
strategic themes to better inform which matters are investigated
going forward.
In 2017-18, the Commission focussed on the strategic themes of:
1. At-Risk Individuals;
2. Data & Information;
3. Regulation & Licensing;
4. Procurement; and
5. Use of Force.
At times, there are also opportunities for the Commission to
turn its attention to matters of critical public interest, as was the
case with Operation Prescott which, while it does not align neatly
with a particular strategic theme, is nevertheless of significant
public interest.
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Investigations (continued)
CASE STUDY 5
Operation Prescott – City of Perth
On Saturday 21 October 2017, elections were held
for four council positions at the City of Perth. It was
known that on Tuesday 24 October 2017, a Special
Council Meeting would be held immediately following
the swearing-in of recently-elected councillors to elect
a Deputy Lord Mayor and to allocate council positions
on committees. Some committees pay the nominated
councillor modest attendance fees, though two
pay significant attendance fees of $10,455 and
$10,300 respectively per annum, plus entitlement
to minor reimbursements.
Allegation
On 27 October 2017, the CEO of the City of Perth, in line
with his statutory duty, notified the Commission of
allegations of serious misconduct by a councillor.
The allegation suggested that one councillor offered
another councillor a financial incentive to 'not contest'
the Deputy Lord Mayor's position at the 24 October 2017
Special Council Meeting.
On 7 November 2017, the CEO of the City of Perth
further notified the Commission of an allegation that
a councillor secretly coordinated the allocation of
elected member appointments to certain paid external
committee positions, in return for supporting their
candidacy for the position of Deputy Lord Mayor.

Both allegations, if found true, had the potential to
impact on the decisions of the Special Council Meeting
(including the election of the Deputy Lord Mayor) as any
person who promises, offers or suggests a reward for,
or on account of, or to induce, electoral conduct or a
promise of electoral conduct is guilty of the offence
of bribery.
To further exacerbate the situation, the basis of the
complaints, including some internal City of Perth
communications, had been made public in the media,
who were reporting matters as they unfolded. The
timeliness of the Commission's response became critical,
in order to restore public faith in their government
institution.
Investigation
The Commission responded swiftly, analysing all available
evidence including communications between relevant
parties and summonsed City of Perth councillors to a
coercive hearing.
Outcome
After considering the accounts of the councillors and
concluding that there was no 'direct evidence' available
to sustain a finding, the Commission did not form an
opinion of serious misconduct.

The Commission will generally report when it has
formed an opinion of serious misconduct, however
there are times when the public interest is served
in knowing that the Commission has thoroughly
investigated an allegation, or allegations, and either
formed no opinion of serious misconduct or concluded
there is no evidence of serious misconduct.
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Investigations (continued)
At-Risk Individuals
People at risk are those who, because of a decreased capacity
to protect themselves or remove themselves from a situation,
are at increased risk of being victims of serious misconduct.
Public officers who work with people at risk operate in a difficult
environment. The need to conform with the law and agency
priorities, while respecting and responding to the vulnerabilities
of individuals, can be a constant challenge.

Data & Information
Most public sector agencies in Western Australia collect, generate,
hold and disseminate a range of confidential and sensitive data
and information.
‘Data’ includes characters, words, numbers, pictures and sound,
not necessarily in any context. ‘Information’ is data which is
formatted and organised in a way which is comprehensible.
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The public expects that data and information held by the public
sector will be used only for legitimate purposes.
The Commission conscientiously applies its finite resources to
areas where it can affect the greatest impact on the public sector.
Operation Spitfire demonstrates how an agency such as the
Department of Justice, including Corrective Services, crosses over
multiple strategic themes such as ‘At-Risk Individuals’ and ‘Data &
Information’ due to the scale and complexity of its operation.
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Investigations (continued)
CASE STUDY 6
Operation Spitfire –
Department of Justice
Allegation
Operation Spitfire is an ongoing cooperative investigation with
the Department of Justice (DoJ) into allegations of serious
misconduct associated with trafficking of drugs and contraband
into Western Australian prisons, inappropriate associations
between prisoners and prison staff, and the unlawful access
and release of confidential information.
Investigation
This operation used the full suite of capabilities and powers
available to the Commission to detect, disrupt and dismantle
syndicates, which infiltrated the Western Australian public sector.
During the investigation, syndicate members were observed by
physical surveillance operatives attending clandestine meetings.
Syndicate members’ conversations were recorded using the
powers available to the Commission under the Surveillance
Devices Act 1998 and the Telecommunications (Interception
and Access) Act 1979 (Cth), and ultimately they were coercively
examined under the provisions of the CCM Act.
Western Australia currently contracts the operation of Acacia
prison to the private entity Serco Group plc (Serco). The conduct
of two custodial officers was identified by Serco and brought to
the Commission’s attention.

With assistance from Acacia prison management, the
Commission uncovered multiple incidences of custodial officers
associating with criminals and members of organised crime
syndicates, using prohibited drugs, smuggling prohibited drugs
into prison and taking bribes in the form of cash and drugs.
The investigation also uncovered one instance of custodial
officers illegally importing prohibited drugs into Australia.
Outcome
The Commission identified a range of issues affecting the
DoJ’s ability to prevent, detect, investigate and manage
serious misconduct risk. Some of those matters were reported
to Parliament in June 2018 – A Report on Corrupt Custodial
Officers and the Risk of Contraband Entering Prisons.
Upon receiving the results of the Commission’s investigation,
Serco took prompt disciplinary action against the custodial
officers which led to their dismissal.
Several other investigations have identified issues associated
with the integrity of the reporting and review process
applied to use of force and critical incidents within prisons.
Those matters were reported to Parliament in June 2018.
The DoJ has accepted all recommendations made by the
Commission and has undertaken to address the issues over
the next 12 months.
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Investigations (continued)
CASE STUDY 7

Regulation & Licensing
Regulation and licensing is one of the
Commission’s key priority themes.
Government regulation and licensing
affects the lives of everyone, every
day. It regulates the right to drive, to
operate a business and to work in specific
occupations. It regulates the buildings
we live and work in, the infrastructure of
our towns, and the medical, transport and
other services we receive. A significant
proportion of the activities of the
Western Australian public sector are
concerned with regulation and licensing.
In 2017-18, the Commission undertook an
investigation into a driving school which
falsely recorded conducting Practical
Driving Assessments (PDAs) for people
applying for a licence to drive a heavy
vehicle. As a result of the Commission’s
investigation, 678 people had their licences
suspended in full or in part.

Operation Paragon – cooperative investigation
with the Department of Transport
Allegation
The Commission received an allegation that a contracted
assessor for the Department of Transport (DoT) was recording
fraudulent information in relation to Practical Driving
Assessments (PDAs) on DoT’s licence assessment provider
system (LAPS).
Investigation
Mines West Truck Driving School entered into an agreement
with DoT to conduct PDAs for classes of heavy vehicles.
Driving a vehicle of any sort on a public road is a serious
undertaking. A licence is an assessment of competence.
When students are not properly assessed, there is potential
for incompetent drivers to be on the road. When such a driver
is in charge of a heavy rigid or multiple combination vehicle,
the danger is magnified. When a student uses Mines West to
circumvent the requirements to obtain a C class or ordinary
driver’s licence and then obtain an extension to carry
passengers for reward as a taxi or Uber driver this creates
further danger on public roads.
Mines West Truck Driving School offered a fixed price service
for truck driver training and PDAs. They were supposed
to assess the competence of the students, but instead,
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on many occasions, made false entries in LAPS, pretending
they had carried out driving assessments when they had not.
From the student’s perspective, the outcome was a markedly
less rigorous assessment process. This made Mines West a
popular truck driving school, drawing significant numbers of
local and interstate applicants who were looking to avoid the
scrutiny of a legitimate test.
Outcome
The matter was investigated cooperatively with DoT, using the
full suite of Commission powers including covert techniques,
search warrants and coercive hearings. The impact was
immediate, with a finding of serious misconduct against the
proprietor of Mines West. DoT severed their contract and
the business shut down. DoT reviewed the licences obtained
through Mines West testing and, from 30 June to 2 October
2017, 678 licence holders had their licences suspended in part
or in full, and 370 fresh assessments were conducted where
201 applicants failed.
The impact extended beyond the Western Australian border
and, by 7 August 2017, the number of interstate licences
suspended as a consequence of the DoT review was 67.
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Investigations (continued)
Procurement

Use of Force

The term ‘procurement’ refers to the process by which public
sector agencies purchase goods and services. The types of goods
and services purchased can range from a local government
employing a tradesperson for a morning, to a government
department awarding contracts worth hundreds of millions of
dollars for computer and security equipment, or for construction
of roads, stadiums or other major infrastructure.

In order to carry out their functions, some public officers are given
the power to lawfully use force. The term ‘force’ is generally taken
to mean physical force applied to a person, although other actions,
such as shouting, could be considered to be force.

Procurement can involve very large sums of public money, and
cause competition between private sector providers. Often
there are only a small number of public officers who understand,
and are involved in, the tender and contract process. There is
frequently an incentive, and opportunity, for corruption of a
public officer.
The harm caused by corruption in procurement includes waste
of public money, lower quality of goods and services, commercial
detriment to honest private sector companies, adverse media
attention, reputational damage, and lowering of standards and
morale in the public sector.
Approximately 60% of the Commission’s investigative resources
were allocated to investigations relating to procurement in
2017-18; however, these investigations are ongoing and the
results will be included in the 2018-19 Annual Report.

The level of physical force used can vary from minimal such as
putting a hand on a person to direct them, to deadly such as using
a firearm.
The Commission often has cause to examine whether the public
officer’s decision to use force was reasonable, including the type
and amount of force they used. Experience shows that use of
force investigations typically centre on the interaction between
correctional services officers and prisoners, or police officers and
members of the public.
The Commission investigates many matters in cooperation with
the WA Police Force’s Internal Affairs Unit (IAU) and Police Conduct
Investigation Unit (PCIU). A strong professional relationship with
these units has enabled allegations of misconduct and corruption
to be efficiently investigated.
The Commission undertakes investigations independently
and covertly, necessitating the use of its discrete investigative
capability. In 2017-18, the Commission conducted 12 cooperative
and one independent investigation into police misconduct,
some of these investigations centred on the use of force.
The independent investigation, Operation Cavan, focussed on
a police tasering incident.
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Investigations (continued)
CASE STUDY 8
Operation Cavan – WA Police Force
Allegation
In March 2017, a member of the public was stopped at a random
breath test site on Beach Street in Fremantle, which was being
operated by members of Traffic Enforcement Group (TEG).
Following an incident, the member of the public was tasered,
arrested, placed into a police van and taken to Fremantle Police
Station where they spent several hours in the lock-up before
being released.
Investigation
The matter was internally investigated by the Traffic Branch,
which found that no offence had been committed by the officer
who used the taser. That investigation was reviewed by the
PCIU, which also concluded that the officer had done nothing
wrong. The Commission was dissatisfied with this conclusion and
commenced an investigation into the conduct of officers involved
in the incident.
In seeking the truth, the Commission used its full range of
investigative powers including conducting private examinations
of the witnesses and police officers involved.

38 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

Outcome
The Commission’s investigation concluded that there was no
lawful justification for the tasering and that it was unreasonable
and oppressive. The Commission formed an opinion of serious
misconduct against the officer who administered the tasering.
The Commission focusses its resources on strategies that result
in the greatest positive impact on public sector agencies. In
this instance, the Commission’s findings were referred to by
the WA Police Commissioner in submissions to a Parliamentary
committee advocating the use of body-worn cameras to improve
police accountability. The WA Police Force is currently trialling
body-worn cameras, which have provided positive results in
terms of increased accountability in other jurisdictions.
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Investigations (continued)
Charges and convictions
The Commission has no power to prosecute criminal offences.34
The Commission, in the course of its serious misconduct
investigations, often uncovers suspected criminal offending.
Where this is evident, the Commission may assemble evidence
and provide it to prosecuting authorities such as the State
Solicitor’s Office (SSO) or the office of the Director of Public
Prosecutions (DPP) to consider whether to prosecute any person
identified in the investigation. In this way, the Commission
fulfils the role of an independent investigative agency, providing
evidence of the highest standard for consideration.
The SSO and DPP are two of the State’s prosecuting authorities
which have discretion to determine whether to commence a
prosecution in relation to a criminal offence.

Also in the reporting period, the DPP prosecuted two co-accused
(one public officer and one non-public officer). One of the accused
was convicted and sentenced in the District Court for offences of
corruption, bribery and giving false testimony to the Commission.
The accused received a term of imprisonment. The co-accused was
convicted and sentenced for their role in aiding in the corruption
offence and received a term of imprisonment, wholly suspended.
In addition to the Commission’s capacity to provide a brief of
evidence for consideration for prosecution, the Commission
may also make recommendations to independent agencies or
appropriate authorities about prosecution or disciplinary action
against particular persons when the Commission refers a matter
relating to serious misconduct back to that agency or authority.

In the reporting period, the SSO commenced criminal
proceedings against three public officers (two co-accused)
based on evidence arising from two Commission investigations.35
These proceedings are continuing.

34
35

A v Maughan [2016] WASCA 128.
One was a joint investigation with the WA Police Force.
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Investigations (continued)
Table 9 shows the charges and convictions of public officers and non-public officers resulting from Commission investigations in 2017-18.
Table 9: Charges and convictions
Against
public
officers

Against
non-public
officers

Charges arising from Commission investigations in 2017-18

20

1

2136

Charges arising from Commission investigations and still before the courts

14

0

1437

6

0

6

Charges finalised38

13

1

1439

Convictions

22

1

2340

-

-

-

Charges and convictions

Charges discontinued, dismissed or set aside

Acquittals
Examples of types of offences prosecuted in 2017-18 included:
• corruption pursuant to Criminal Code (s 83);
• bribery pursuant to Criminal Code (s 82);
• false testimony pursuant the CCM Act (s 168);
• corruptly falsifying a record pursuant to Criminal Code (s 85); and
• disclosure of restricted matter pursuant to the CCM Act (ss 151(7) and 167(3)).

Represents charges arising in relation to 4 public officers
(2 by indictment) and 1 non-public officer (by indictment).
37 Represents total number of charges laid in the reporting
period including any subsequently discontinued.
38 Includes 13 offences finalised by way of sentence,
6 offences discontinued in the reporting period.
39 Represents charges finalised or dealt with in relation to
8 public officers and 2 non-public officers.
40 Includes convictions imposed after guilty plea
before sentence.
36
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Monitoring and reviewing appropriate
authority actions and investigations
Key result:

1,480

Allegations referred to an
appropriate authority –
monitor for outcome only

113

Allegations referred to an
appropriate authority –
active monitoring and review
by the Commission

Definitions:
Appropriate authorities are public
authorities with the power to take
disciplinary, investigatory or other
action in response to allegations

Following the assessment of an allegation of serious misconduct,
the Commission has a number of further actions which it may
take. When considering which of these is the most appropriate,
the Commission is cognisant of the fact that responsibility for
the identification and management of serious misconduct lies
with the head of the public authority where the subject officer
is employed.
If the Commission determines not to investigate an allegation,
one option available is to refer the matter to a public authority,
most often the one who employs the subject officer, for action.
In those instances, the Commission’s primary responsibility
becomes to ensure that the public authority deals with the
matter adequately. The Commission’s Oversight Team is
responsible for monitoring these matters.

During 2017-18, the Commission referred 2.2% of all allegations
identified to an appropriate authority for ‘active monitoring and
review’. Active monitoring and review is a structured program of
engagement, consultation and proactive management, aimed at
achieving high levels of accountability, increasing the capacity of
appropriate authorities and ensuring continued visibility by the
Commission. While typically reserved for matters that are assessed
as being particularly serious in nature, active monitoring and
review is also initiated for matters involving subject officers with
an extensive complaints history or those matters where systemic
issues are identified. The Commission’s Operations Committee
oversee all matters subject to active monitoring and review.
The Commission produced three Parliamentary Reports on
matters subject to monitor and review in 2017-18.

The Commission’s monitor and review functions are typically
fulfilled in one of two ways – classified as ‘monitor outcome
only’ and ‘active monitoring and review’. During 2017-2018, the
Commission referred 29.3% of all allegations identified to an
appropriate authority as ‘monitor outcome only’. While these
allegations are generally less serious, or relate to an appropriate
authority in which the Commission has confidence in their ability
to respond appropriately, the Commission retains a level of
oversight through the receipt of outcome and closure advice.
The Commission retains all data relating to closures and
outcomes for accountability, reporting and intelligence purposes.
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Monitoring and reviewing appropriate
authority actions and investigations (continued)
CASE STUDY 9
North Metropolitan Health Service (NMHS)
Allegation
In mid-2016, the subject officer, a nurse, was admitted to
Fiona Stanley Hospital suffering from Sevoflurane toxicity.
Sevoflurane is a Schedule 4 prescription-only medicine.
It was suspected at the time of notification that the nurse stole
the Sevoflurane from their workplace, Sir Charles Gairdner
Hospital. The Commission was not notified of this incident
until mid-2017 and disciplinary proceedings did not commence
until around the same time.
Active monitoring and review of the NMHS investigation
Due to concerns with the way in which previous allegations
against the nurse were dealt with in 2014, and an unexplained
delay in notifying the Commission of this incident, the
Commission determined to monitor and review an investigation
conducted by the NMHS. The Commission’s active oversight
commenced one month prior to NMHS advising the Commission
that the matter had been closed. The Commission’s attempts to
monitor and review the NMHS response were further frustrated
by the NMHS taking several months to provide the Commission
with its final investigation report.
In reviewing this matter, the Commission identified several
areas of concern in the response by NMHS. These included
the unexplained delay in commencing the disciplinary process,
the NMHS’s decision to accept the nurse’s response without
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investigation, and the nurse’s subsequent return to work
without restrictions. This was deemed particularly concerning
given that the nurse provided contradictory information
in relation to how they obtained the drugs. This was also
not the first incident in which the nurse’s behaviour had
raised concerns.
Outcome
The Commission advised the NMHS that its response to this
incident was inadequate.
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Helping prevent WA Police Force misconduct
Key results:

2,606

Allegations of police
misconduct assessed

920

75

Allegations of police
misconduct referred for
monitor outcome only
Allegations of police
misconduct referred for
active monitoring and
review by the Commission

All allegations of police misconduct, including serious misconduct,
minor misconduct or reviewable police action, relating to sworn
and unsworn officers and people seconded to the WA Police Force
are defined under the CCM Act as serious misconduct. As such,
all allegations of police misconduct are reported to, and assessed
by, the Commission. WA Police Force allegations represented
approximately 52% of all allegations received and assessed by the
Commission in 2017-18.

As part of the Commission’s expanded oversight responsibilities
for the WA Police Force, the Commission has a prevention
and education function to help prevent police misconduct.
The Commission exercises this function in a number of
ways including:
• regular liaison and consultation with the WA Police
Professional Standards Portfolio in relation to allegations
against police, incident briefings, intelligence sharing and
engagement with members in relation to the prevention of,
and education about, police misconduct;
• providing advice to the WA Police Force on the Commission’s
views on the quality of actions taken in response to
allegations of police misconduct;
• early and regular consultation with the areas tasked with
investigating allegations of police misconduct as part of the
Commission’s monitor and review functions; and
• Commission officers providing briefings to new police recruits
at the Western Australia Police Academy.

15

Investigations conducted into
police misconduct, of which
8 were cooperative
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Helping prevent WA Police Force misconduct (continued)
CASE STUDY 10
WA Police Force –
excessive use of force
Allegation
The WA Police Force initiated an investigation into allegations
of excessive use of force by a police officer after footage of an
incident was shown on social media which depicted the officer
shoving a woman in the back, causing her to fall forward and
injure herself. The Commission also received a report from a
representative of the woman alleging excessive use of force by
the officer. The Commission decided to actively monitor and
review the action and response from the WA Police Force in
relation to the allegation.
Active monitoring and review of the WA Police Force
investigation
The Commission’s active monitoring commenced with
engagement with representatives from the WA Police
Professional Standards Portfolio who, due to geographical
constraints, acted as a liaison point for the district investigators
assigned to the incident. Footage, statements and briefing
notes were provided to the Commission to demonstrate
the progress of the investigation. A case officer was allocated
from within the Commission’s Oversight Team and police
were required to provide regular updates in relation to
their investigation.
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On receiving a report from the woman involved in the
incident, the Commission was able to obtain a statement
from her which, with her permission, was provided to the
WA Police Force. The WA Police Force had previously been
unable to engage with her.
The Commission reviewed the response from the WA Police
Force to the incident and found that it conducted a thorough
investigation: undertaking significant enquiries; conducting
interviews with those involved, including independent
witnesses; and reviewing the footage. The WA Police Force
investigation concluded that the officer did use excessive
force and a disciplinary charge under the Police Act 1982 was
sustained, with the officer receiving a monetary fine.
The Commission considered that the decision not to charge
the officer with assault under the Criminal Code 1913 was
appropriate under the circumstances. The officer involved
made full admissions and displayed obvious remorse.
The penalty imposed was also considered commensurate
with the excessive force used.
Outcome
From its active monitoring and review of the matter,
the Commission found that the WA Police Force properly
considered the available evidence and the matter was
promptly and adequately dealt with.
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Helping prevent WA Police Force misconduct (continued)
CASE STUDY 11
WA Police Force –
death following police pursuit
Allegation
The Commission received a notification from the WA Police Force
advising of a critical incident in which a passenger in a stolen
vehicle, which had been pursued by police, died after the vehicle
was involved in a collision.
Active monitoring and review of the WA Police Force
investigation
The Commission’s active monitoring of this matter commenced
with a briefing by the Internal Affairs Unit (IAU) officer
responsible for investigating the circumstances surrounding
the pursuit and the conduct of the officers involved.
The Commission was provided with copies of the involved
officers’ statements, radio transmissions, video evidence and
vehicle locator data. A case officer was allocated from within
the Commission’s Oversight Team and police were required to
provide monthly updates in relation to their investigation.
The Commission reviewed the response of the WA Police Force
to the incident and determined that it conducted a thorough
investigation. While the investigation found that the officers
in the three vehicles primarily involved in pursuing the stolen
vehicle complied with the WA Police Force’s emergency driving
policies, it found that one officer in another vehicle who followed
the stolen vehicle through a red traffic light seconds before the

ensuing collision did not. While this officer received verbal
guidance and a letter of corrective advice, it was determined
that, due to the police car’s distance from the stolen vehicle,
the officer’s actions did not contribute to the collision.
Outcome
From its active monitoring and review of the matter, the
Commission found that the WA Police Force properly
considered the available evidence and the matter had been
promptly and adequately dealt with.
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Providing information to independent agencies
and appropriate authorities
The Commission is sometimes required to disclose official
information to other public authorities and agencies. This can
occur when the Commission receives allegations or information
about public agencies or officers outside its jurisdiction, such as
information about:
• Commonwealth or other Australian state or territory
government agencies or public officers;
• Western Australian public officers that does not constitute
serious misconduct, but raises concerns about the fitness or
integrity of the person in their public officer capacity; and
• a private person or organisation that involves possible
criminal conduct.
In these cases, the disclosure is not only in the public interest, but
also supports the Commission’s legislated purpose of continuously
improving the integrity of the public sector.
The Commission also discloses allegations of potential minor
misconduct to the Public Sector Commission in order for the
Public Sector Commission to carry out its functions and
responsibilities for this conduct under the CCM Act.
In other circumstances, the Commission may disclose official
information for the purposes of prosecution or disciplinary
action, or in carrying out its functions under the CCM Act.
The Commission also discloses information to relevant parties
prior to reporting on any matters adverse to them so that they
may make representations to the Commission concerning
these matters.41

41

CCM Act s 86.
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In carrying out its function to ensure that allegations and
information concerning serious misconduct are dealt with in an
appropriate way, the Commission may also consult, cooperate
and exchange information with:
• independent agencies (for example, the Office of the
Auditor General and the Director of Public Prosecutions);
• appropriate authorities (for example, other Western
Australian State Government agencies such as the
Department of Health and the WA Police Force); or
• specified or gazetted agencies (for example, the interstate
integrity bodies such as the Independent Broad-based
Anti-Corruption Commission (Vic) or the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (NSW)).
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Providing information to independent agencies
and appropriate authorities (continued)
During 2017-18, the Commission made disclosures of information to
the following independent agencies, appropriate authorities and other
relevant bodies:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Australian Border Force;
Australian Federal Police;
Coroner’s Court of Western Australia;
Department of the Attorney General;
Department of Education;
Department of Finance;
Department of Justice;
Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries;
Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development;
Department of Transport;
Director of Public Prosecutions (independent agency);
Legal Profession Complaints Committee;
local government authorities;
Main Roads WA;
Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services;
Ombudsman Western Australia (independent agency);
Public Sector Commission (independent agency);
Special Inquiry into Government Programs and Projects;
South Metropolitan TAFE;
WA Health; and
WA Police Force.
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Recommendations for changes to law
Amendments proposed in the previous reporting period to
the Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000 and the CCM Act
successfully progressed through both houses of Parliament
and have now been given Royal Assent and proclamation.
These amendments commenced on 1 September 2018 and confer
on the Commission a new ‘unexplained wealth’ function, which
will enable the Commission to investigate unexplained wealth and
criminal benefits, and to initiate and conduct civil confiscation
proceedings in the Supreme or District courts.
The Commission also supported amendments to the CCM Act
initiated by the Attorney General. The amendments seek to
restore the Commission’s jurisdiction over misconduct by
members of Parliament where that conduct could constitute both
a breach of the Criminal Code and serious misconduct under the
CCM Act. The Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Bill 2017 passed
the lower house in November 2017. It was considered in a report
by the Procedure and Privileges Committee and is awaiting
further consideration in the upper house.
Other provisions of the CCM Act remain under continuous review,
with the aim to make recommendations for amendment where
the Commission identifies this may be beneficial.
During 2017-18, the Commission provided submissions to a
number of statutory reviews and provided written submissions
on a number of proposed amendments to the law in WA.
The Commission responded to requests from the Department of
Justice for submissions regarding a statutory review of ‘loss of
confidence’ provisions in the Prisons Act 1981 and Young Offenders
Act 1994, and proposed uniform evidence legislation in WA.
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The Commission provided submissions on the statutory review of
the Criminal Investigation Act 2006 and proposed amendments to
the Criminal Investigation Regulations 2007.
The Commission also contributed to a statutory review conducted
by the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural
Industries of the Local Government Act 1995, and prepared a
response to the Legislative Assembly’s Community Development
and Justice Standing Committee Inquiry into the protection of
crowded places in WA from terrorist acts.
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Working together to develop public sector capacity
Key results:

11
Events

600

Participants

3

Joint sessions with the Public
Sector Commission

The Commission engages in a number of activities that aim
to increase integrity across the public sector and assist public
authorities in their response to allegations of serious misconduct.
Working collaboratively with the Public Sector Commission,
the WA Police Force, other Western Australian public authorities,
and independent agencies and integrity bodies both locally and
interstate, the Commission uses a range of mechanisms to build
public sector capacity and assist public authorities prevent,
identify and respond to serious misconduct.
During the reporting period, the Commission undertook a
number of activities including:
• working collaboratively with the Public Sector Commission
to examine misconduct management processes within
public authorities and using a range of strategies, such
as surveys and systems audits, providing advice and,
where appropriate, recommendations aimed at process
improvements;
• reporting to appropriate authorities and the Parliament of
Western Australia on serious misconduct investigations,
highlighting areas of risk, lessons to be learnt and, where
appropriate, making recommendations;
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•

•

delivering three joint sessions with the Public Sector
Commission to approximately 140 participants, which
included an event for International Anti-Corruption Day
and two sessions in Kalgoorlie for public sector agencies,
statutory authorities and local government; and
delivering eight presentations, undertaken by the
Commissioner and other officers, to approximately
460 participants, on topics including the role of the
Commission and Public Sector Commission in dealing
with public sector misconduct, corruption themes and
insights into trends and risks, the Commission’s oversight
function and history, and the role of the Commission
and its place in the Western Australian public sector
accountability framework.
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Working together to develop public sector capacity (continued)
International Anti-Corruption Day –
9 December 2017
The theme for the 2017 International Anti-Corruption Day
was ‘United Against Corruption’, which was celebrated around
the world under the joint leadership of the United Nations
Development Program and the United Nation’s Office on Drugs
and Crime. The Commission participated in this important day
on the global calendar with three events.

1. Breakfast seminar
The Commissioner and Public Sector Commissioner,
Mal Wauchope AO, hosted a special event on 8 December 2017
for approximately 120 chief executive officers and executive
leaders from across the Western Australian public sector.
The event was introduced by the Hon. Margaret Quirk MLA,
Chair of the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption
and Crime Commission, and featured a keynote speech by
Fran Thorn, Deloitte’s National Partner, Public Sector and
Healthcare and former Victorian Department of Health
Department Secretary.

2. Signing of a pledge flag to stand
United Against Corruption
At the event, government officials signed a pledge flag to
“… commit to building a corruption resistant culture in my
government agency”.

3. Launch of online campaign
The Commission also launched an online campaign to assist public
officers and members of the community to identify and report
suspected serious misconduct and corrupt behaviour to the
Commission. The campaign materials included You Tube videos,
social media graphics, and posters featuring six individuals being
depicted engaging in conduct (types of allegations and scenarios)
that is typically reported.
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Published reports and recommendations
Key results:

Published reports

13

Part 5 of the CCM Act sets out how the Commission may report
on the results of its investigations and other matters. Reports
educate and inform the public sector and are in the public interest
as they enable informed action to be taken to address misconduct
risks. Reports also enable the Parliament of Western Australia and
the Western Australian community to be satisfied that significant
public sector serious misconduct allegations and issues are dealt
with transparently and accountably.

Reports produced and
tabled in the Parliament of
Western Australia42

49

Recommendations made to
public authorities

The decision to release information to the public is taken very
seriously and the Commission does so only after a determination
that the benefits of public exposure and public awareness
outweigh the potential for prejudice and privacy infringements.
The Commission is obliged to afford procedural fairness to any
persons adversely named or affected by Commission reports.
In 2017-18, the Commission produced and tabled 12 reports
in the Parliament of Western Australia, in addition to its
Annual Report 2016-17:
1.	Report on corruption in respect of truck driving licence
applications – 2 November 2017
2.	Report on allegations of serious misconduct by councillors
of the City of Perth – 18 December 2017
3.	Review of police response to an incident in a
country town – 21 March 2018

42
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Figure includes the Commission’s Annual Report 2016-17.

4.	Report into a tasering incident on 31 March 2017 at
Fremantle – 21 March 2018
5.	Report on Department of Transport response to Commission
recommendations – 4 April 2018
6.	Implementation of recommendations arising from the
Commission’s investigation into Operation Aviemore –
4 April 2018
7.	Report into inadequate supervision of prisoners whilst in
the community – 11 May 2018
8.	Report on serious misconduct risks around dangerous
drugs in hospitals – 25 May 2018
9.	Report on corrupt custodial officers and the risks of
contraband entering prisons – 26 June 2018
10.	Report into inadequate use of force reporting at Eastern
Goldfields Regional Prison in May 2017 – 27 June 2018
11.	Report into inadequate use of force reporting at Eastern
Goldfields Regional Prison on 27 March 2017 and Bunbury
Regional Prison on 14 November 2016 – 27 June 2018
12.	Report into inadequate use of force at Hakea Prison on
21 March 2016 – 27 June 2018
The Commission also published an Overview of Serious Misconduct
each quarter on its website.
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Published reports and recommendations (continued)
Recommendations
Based on its assessments, investigations and other actions,
the Commission may make recommendations to an independent
agency or appropriate authority about:
• whether consideration should or should not be given to
prosecuting or taking disciplinary action against particular
persons; or
• taking other action in relation to identified matters.
During 2017-18, the Commission made a total of 49
recommendations to public authorities – 47 recommendations
in nine of its reports and two recommendations in letters to
two public authorities. Recommendations were made to the
Department of Transport, Department of Communities,
WA Police Force, Department of Justice and Department of
Health. The recommendations included: making improvements
to information technology systems, policy, procedures and
practices; supervision of prisoners in the community; use of
force reporting; search and screening procedures in prisons;
and management of drugs in hospitals. There were no
recommendations for prosecution of public officers.

In April 2018, the Commission tabled a further report on
Operation Aviemore, a major crime squad investigation into
the unlawful killing of Joshua Warneke. After its review, the
Commission did not regard two recommendations as being
complete and will seek a further update from the WA Police
Force in 12 months.
The Commission also intends to report on the progress of
31 recommendations made to the Department of Justice
and nine recommendations to the Department of Health
after 12 months.
The Commission acknowledges the acceptance of its
recommendations and changes put in place by agencies to
minimise their corruption risks.
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Cooperating with integrity bodies
The Commission works collaboratively with other integrity and
anti-corruption bodies, both locally and interstate, exchanging
information, expertise and best-practice approaches to help
combat serious misconduct within and across jurisdictions.
Commissioners’ forum and chief executives’ meeting: The
Commissioner hosted a meeting of the national anti-corruption
agencies in June 2018. Chief executives also joined the
commissioners to receive a briefing and tour of the Commission’s
new Northbridge premises, discuss developments, and share
information and experience.

Working collaboratively with anti-corruption agencies in other
states: The Chief Executive meets regularly with his counterparts
in other anti-corruption agencies to share information and work
collaboratively on common issues. At the June meeting of chief
executives, hosted in Perth, topics discussed included major risks
and mitigation strategies, integrity surveys, and performance
benchmarking. Representatives from the Australian Commission
for Law Enforcement Integrity (Canberra) were also given a
demonstration of the Commission’s case management system and
reporting capabilities, and representatives of the Independent
Commissioner Against Corruption (SA) were briefed on technology
used by the Commission to support public examinations.
Two Commission officers attended the Sixth Annual Australian
Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference and Workshops in
Sydney from 14 to 16 November 2017. The workshops provided
an opportunity for employees from Australian integrity bodies to
share and learn from experiences from their international affiliates.

Back row (L-R): The Honourable Robert Redlich QC, The Hon Bruce Lander QC, Michael Riches,
Craig Furry, Richard Bingham, Jen O'Farrell, Alistair Maclean, John McKechnie QC
Front row (L-R): Michael Griffin AM, Ray Warnes, Alan MacSporran MC, The Hon Lea Drake,
Geoff Van Herten
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A controlled operation may involve
an authorised participant engaging
in unlawful conduct. The Criminal
Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012
provides protection to the participant
from criminal responsibility where
the conduct has been authorised,
and engaged in, in accordance with
that Act.
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Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012
Providing assurance that covert law enforcement
activities such as controlled operations are authorised
and conducted lawfully

The Commission provides individual annual reports on the
agencies’ activities to the responsible Minister for tabling in the
Parliament of Western Australia.

The Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 requires
the Commission to inspect records of controlled operations
conducted by the WA Police Force, the Fisheries Department43
and the Australian Crime Commission.44 Each of these agencies
reports to the Commission on their use of controlled operations.

Table 10 shows the controlled operation records inspected by the
Commission throughout 2017-18. In fulfilling its oversight role, the
Commission considers whether the agencies have complied with
the requirements of the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers)
Act 2012. Where the Commission identifies areas of concern,
feedback is provided to the agency about the issues.

Table 10: Agency controlled operation records inspected by the Commission
Improving practice – covert
powers functions

Inspections of controlled operations

The Commission and the WA Police
Force have worked together to
effectively deal with issues that have
arisen in relation to interpretation
and application of the Criminal
Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012.

Law enforcement agency

The WA Police Force has acknowledged
the issues raised by the Commission
and effectively made amendments
to its practices. The Commission has
identified significant improvement by
the WA Police Force in the compliance
of their controlled operation records
with the Criminal Investigation (Covert
Powers) Act 2012.

Controlled
operation
authorisations

Variation to
authorities

Applications
refused

Applications
withdrawn

Retrospective
authorities

6345

18

-

-

-

Fisheries Department

2

3

-

-

-

Australian Crime Commission

-

-

-

-

-

65

21

-

-

-

WA Police Force

Total

Note: While the Australian Crime Commission did not conduct any controlled operations, the Commission inspected their ‘General Register’ to ensure compliance with the Criminal Investigation
(Covert Powers) Act 2012.

The Fisheries Department is defined in s 3 of the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 as the department principally assisting in the administration of the Fish Resources Management
Act 1994. From 1 July 2017, the relevant department is the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development.
44 On 1 July 2016, the Australian Crime Commission and CrimTrac merged to form the Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission, although it retains its name as the Australian Crime Commission
for the purposes of reporting under the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012.
45 A controlled operation may involve more than one controlled operation authority. The 63 controlled operation authorities granted were for 57 WA Police Force controlled operations.
43
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Significant issues impacting the Commission
There were only two significant issues in 2017-18 that impacted or will impact upon the Commission’s operations.

Unexplained wealth

Office relocation

In the reporting period, the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct
and Criminal Property Confiscation Amendment Bill 2017 was
passed by both houses of Parliament. The resulting Act confers
upon the Commission a new unexplained wealth function,
which commenced on 1 September 2018.

On 6 March 2018, the Commission began operation from its
new office located on Level 5, 45 Francis Street in Northbridge.
Having spent more than a decade at 186 St Georges Terrace in
the Perth CBD, the decision to relocate, and the choice to move
to the Francis Street premises, was based on numerous benefits
to the Commission and its work – particularly operational and
administrative efficiencies.

It amended both the Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000
(CPC Act) and the CCM Act. Under its new unexplained wealth
function, the Commission will have power to investigate
unexplained wealth and criminal benefits using existing powers
under the CPC Act, which will also complement some of the
Commission’s existing coercive powers under the CCM Act.
The new unexplained wealth function will enable the
Commission to operate as a ‘crime commission’, with the aim to
exercise these powers to deter and disrupt criminal offending
by diminishing a person’s ability to finance or to profit from
crime-related activities. The new function will also strengthen
the Commission’s statutory purpose to combat and reduce the
incidence of organised crime.
The Commission’s challenge is to ensure that there is an
appropriate balance between the new function and its existing
serious misconduct functions.

The new office accommodates the Commission's team and
provides a special operational centre, as well as two
purpose-built public examination rooms and interview rooms,
all on one floor – for the first time. The new layout provides
an environment that facilitates more innovation, and better
interaction and collaboration between employees.
The new premises has state-of-the-art technologies built in,
providing more advanced systems and security, as well as a more
efficient working environment with lower running costs.
The joint relocation project between the Commission and the
Department of Finance cost $13.8 million against funding of
$16.8 million, allowing surplus funding to be returned to
Government. With a reduction of 934sqm in leased floor space,
together with reduced security, cleaning and electricity costs, it is
also expected to realise significant savings over the 15-year lease
period. This project represents approximately $7.6 million in cost
savings over the original option to remain at the Commission’s
previous CBD location.
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Governance disclosures
Contracts with senior officers
As at 30 June 2018, there were no matters to report in respect
of senior officers of the Commission concerning any interests
they may have in regard to firms, entities or other bodies that do
business with the Commission.

Compliance with public sector standards
and ethical codes
Public sector standards
The Commission received no breach of standard claims against
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management
during 2017-18.
One disciplinary process was conducted during the reporting
period, and the Commission did not receive any formal
grievances during 2017-18.

WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and the
Commission’s Code of Conduct
A review of the Commission’s Code of Conduct was initiated
during 2017-18 to ensure alignment with the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Guidelines (specifically Commissioner’s
Instructions No 7 Code of Ethics and No 8 Codes of Conduct
and Integrity Training), the Strategic Plan 2017-21, and revised
policies and procedures. All employees are required to read and
sign a declaration of commitment to the Code of Conduct upon
commencement of employment.
All employees are required to participate annually in Accountable
and Ethical Decision-Making training. The content of the
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Commission’s training program was also reviewed during 2017-18
as part of the broader Code of Conduct review.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes
The Disability Services Act 1993 does not require the Commission
to develop and report on a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.
However, in 2017-18, the Commission initiated the development
of a Diversity and Inclusion Plan.
The Diversity and Inclusion Plan is being developed in response to
the Commission’s integrated Strategic Workforce Plan 2017-21,
which includes a specific focus on the development of diversity
and inclusion strategies that support the needs of the organisation.
The plan is designed to support equal access, involvement and
participation in Commission services and activities. The guiding
principles of the plan are:
• all people receive the same level of quality and service from
the Commission regardless of age, culture, religion, gender,
orientation or ability;
• the Commission’s workforce reflects the diversity of the
community which it serves;
• policy development and service delivery are informed by
consultation with, and feedback from, diverse groups of
people;
• public information and events are accessible and useful for
all people; and
• the Commission encourages flexible work practices,
where possible, to support all employees including those
from diverse community groups.
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Governance disclosures (continued)
Compliance with the State Records Act 2000

•

In compliance with the State Records Act 2000 s 19 and with State
Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6, the Commission has
an approved Record Keeping Plan due for review by December
2018 and an approved Functional Disposal Authority in place.

•

The Commission continues to use the electronic document
and records management system Objective as its official
recording-keeping system and Jade Investigator (or Case
Management and Intelligence System) to capture, store and
retrieve case and intelligence information in a secure,
centralised repository.
Record-keeping training is available to all employees and
comprises group presentations, online awareness modules,
ad hoc workshops and one-to-one training. All employees
attend a record-keeping briefing as part of their induction,
which addresses individual roles and responsibilities in regard
to compliance with the Record Keeping Plan.
The Commission is committed to continually improving its
information and records management practices to meet
business needs and legislative responsibilities. Achievements
and initiatives during 2017-18 include:
• 100% of employees completed the updated online
records awareness training module;
• 75% of employees attended scheduled classroom-based
Objective training;
• an audit was completed of the Commission’s on-site
physical records holdings, and these were successfully
relocated to new environmentally-controlled physical
storage facilities at the Commission’s new premises;

•

information management processes and practices
were developed for the Commission’s new unexplained
wealth function;
a review and revision of the Information Management
Strategic Plan was commenced; and
a review of the Record Keeping Plan and the Functional
Disposal Authority was commenced.

Occupational safety, health and
injury management
The Commission is committed to the provision of a safe
working environment for all employees, in accordance with the
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. This commitment is led
by the Commission Executive.
The Commission has an Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
Policy that is available to all employees through the intranet.
Employees receive specific training regarding their OSH obligations
as part of their induction, with managers receiving additional
training regarding their managerial OSH responsibilities. Employees
are required to undertake this training on an annual basis.
The Commission’s Occupational Safety and Health Planning
Advisory Group (OSHPAG) coordinates and monitors the OSH
program and ensures consultation on OSH-related matters.
Reporting to the Commission Executive, OSHPAG is chaired by a
senior employee and includes a member of the Executive and a
representative from each Directorate. OSHPAG meets quarterly
at a minimum but is also convened as required to address any
particular OSH-related matter. Safety inspections of the workplace
are conducted monthly.
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Governance disclosures (continued)
Each OSH representative has undertaken WorkSafe-accredited
training for the role.

then ensured that all outstanding actions were addressed for
implementation in December 2017. This project included the
implementation of a dedicated OSH software system to support the
management of OSH and compliance obligations.

In July 2013, the Commission instigated a full assessment of its
OSH Management System, against the WorkSafe Plan, conducted
by a WorkSafe-accredited independent assessor. Following this
assessment, the Commission initiated a project to deliver a
fully-compliant OSH Management System in accordance with the
WorkSafe Plan.

Through its Workers’ Compensation Claims and Injury
Management policy, the Commission is committed to providing
injury management support to all workers who sustain a
work-related injury or illness. The focus is on a safe and early return
to meaningful work, in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation
and Injury Management Act 1981. Table 11 shows the Commission’s
performance against targets specified in the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Circular 2018-03: Code of Practice Occupational
Safety and Health in the Western Australian public sector.

A critical component of this project was a further assessment
of the OSH Management System against the WorkSafe Plan,
conducted by a WorkSafe-accredited independent assessor,
which was undertaken in January 2015. The project team
Table 11: Occupational safety and health incidents
In the 2016-17 Annual Report, the Commission reported
1 ongoing injury claim for the 2016-17 financial year that
commenced in 2015-16. This injury was included in the
2016-17 results in error, there were no new claims lodged
that financial year.
47 A small increase of 5% occurred between the base year of
2015-16 and this financial year. The number of lost time
injury or diseases remained stable at 2. The Commission's
number of full-time equivalent employees reduced slightly
by 6.2 between 2015-16 (128.1) and 2017-18 (121.9).
48 2017-18 figures represent the return to work of all new
claims this year within 13 weeks, totalling 2. There were no
new claims in 2016-17 and 1 of the 2 claims in 2015-16 did
not return to work.
49 At the conclusion of the 2017-18 reporting period, all
managers had completed training in OSH. The Commission
mandates that managers undertake a course to raise
their awareness and understanding of their roles and
responsibilities for OSH. In 2016-17, the Commission
updated its training course for managers, with all managers
required to complete the course within the first half of
2017-18 and then on an annual basis thereafter.
46
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Actual results

Targets

Comments
towards
targets

Measures
2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

-

-

-

0

Achieved

1.56

046

1.64

0 or 10% reduction
in incidence rate

Not achieved47

50

0

0

0 or 10% reduction
in severity rate

Achieved

(i) 50%

(i) N/A

(i) 100%

(i) Greater than or
equal to 80%

Achieved

(ii) 50%

(ii) N/A

(ii) 100%

(ii) Greater than or
equal to 80%

Achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational
safety, health and injury management responsibilities
(including refresher training within 3 years)49
Below 80%

Below 80%

100%

Greater than or
equal to 80%

Achieved

Number of fatalities
Lost time injury and disease incidence rate (per 100)
Lost time injury and disease severity rate (per 100)
Percentage of injured workers returned to work
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

48
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Employment and industrial relations
Workforce profile
at a glance:

The Commission is committed to ensuring that it has the right
people, with the right professional skills, now and into the future.

USE THIS ONE (IT’S WHITE)

The Commission is not a ‘Senior Executive Service Organisation’
as described in the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
The CCM Act s 179 provides that Commission officers may be
appointed for a period up to five years and are eligible
for reappointment.

117.9
Total FTE

121.9

As the Commission has no permanent employees, for reporting
purposes, the number of full-time and part-time contracted
employees is noted in Table 12, together with the number of
employees seconded from Western Australian State Government
agencies whose substantive position remains with that agency,
providing a total FTE as at 30 June 2018.
Table 13 details the average workforce level for the Commission
for 2017-18 (based on quarterly total FTE figures throughout the
year) and the approved workforce level as at 30 June 2018.

Table 12: Full-time, part-time and seconded employees50
Employment category

FTE
2016-17

2017-18

109.0

110.0

Part-time contract measured
on an FTE basis

5.4

4.9

On secondment

1.0

3.0

115.4

117.9

Full-time contract

Total FTE

Table 13: Approved and average workforce levels
Workforce level

FTE

Average workforce level for 2017-18

121.9

Approved workforce level as at 30 June 2018

129.0

FTE average workforce level

50

Figures in the table are as at the end (30 June) of the relevant financial year.
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Employment and industrial relations (continued)
Workforce profile
at a glance:

44.93yrs
average age

During 2017-18, the average age of the Commission’s workforce
was 44.93 years. The workforce profile is illustrated in Figure 7.
The Commission has a 52% total female representation,
with 22 females employed in the equivalent of Level 7 positions
and above.
Figure 7: Commission workforce profile
20
Male

48%
Men

52%

Number of employees

Female
15

During 2017-18, the Commission progressed a number of key
initiatives identified in the Strategic Workforce Plan, specifically:
• implementing a new performance management system
aligned to individual needs and strategic direction;
• establishing a learning and development framework framed
around the 70:20:10 learning philosophy that ensures
learning is aligned to current and future business needs; and
• progressing the review of current recruitment practices
to establish a contemporary approach to recruitment that
ensures the acquisition of highly-skilled employees.
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Strategic Workforce Plan 2017-21

Employee development and wellbeing activities and initiatives
undertaken in 2017-18 include:
• continuing an annual influenza vaccination program;
• providing workstation ergonomic assessments and
orientation sessions to all employees following the move
to the new premises in Northbridge, and supplying
sit/stand desks for all employees;
• providing ongoing ergonomic workstation assessments
as required;
• offering targeted training for front-line employees dealing
with callers in distress;
• providing leadership training for the Executive and senior
employees; and
• awarding Commission study scholarships to four employees
to support further studies in the fields of accounting, fraud,
and financial crime and law.
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Employment and industrial relations (continued)
Employee assistance program

Workers’ compensation

The Commission contracts an employee assistance provider
(EAP) who specialises in supporting employee health and
wellness. The EAP provides specialist support in counselling,
coaching, trauma support, workplace concerns, mental health,
and wellness support via face-to-face, telephone, video and
online chat. This service is available 24/7 all year round and is
also accessible to employee family members.

There were two new workers’ compensation claims during
2017-18 and one previous claim that is ongoing.

A confidential telephone advisory service is provided for
employees to effectively deal with workplace issues.
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Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018
The accompanying financial statements of the Corruption and Crime Commission have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and the financial position as at 30 June 2018.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Hon. John McKechnie, QC
COMMISSIONER

Alan Andersson
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
17 September 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

3.1.1

17,761

17,872

3.2

4,470

4,459

5.1.1, 5.2.1

1,131

1,133

Accommodation expenses

3.2

4,581

4,653

Other expenses

3.2

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Total cost of services

787

982

28,730

29,099

142

258

142

258

12

93

12

93

154

351

28,576

28,748

Income

Revenue
Other revenue

4.2

Total Revenue

Gains
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total Gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

4.3

Table continued on next page >
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Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2018
< Table continued from previous page

Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

29,482

30,114

Income from State Government
Service appropriation

4.1

Services received free of charge

4.1

98

92

29,580

30,206

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD

1,004

1,458

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

1,004

1,458

Total income from State Government

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Services’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2018
Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

7.1.1

5,692

10,696

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

6.1

218

273

Amounts receivable for services

6.2

2,200

3,127

Other current assets

6.3

976

728

9,086

14,824

7.1.1

130

65

Receivables

6.1

141

139

Amounts receivable for services

6.2

15,679

16,340

Property, plant and equipment

5.1

4,167

1,995

Intangible assets

5.2

82

96

Total Non-Current Assets

20,199

18,635

TOTAL ASSETS

29,285

33,459

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Table continued on next page >
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Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 30 June 2018
< Table continued from previous page

Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

227

179

3,419

2,696

3,646

2,875

877

668

877

668

4,523

3,543

24,762

29,916

Contributed equity

13,325

19,483

Accumulated surplus

11,437

10,433

TOTAL EQUITY

24,762

29,916

Provisions

6.4
3.1.2

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

3.1.2

Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

72 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

9.7

Managing finances
and performance

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

5

Building
capacity

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Contributed
equity
$'000

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)
$'000

Total
equity
$'000

19,483

8,975

28,458

Surplus/(deficit)

-

1,458

1,458

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

1,458

1,458

Capital appropriations

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

19,483

10,433

29,916

19,483

10,433

29,916

Surplus/(deficit)

-

1,004

1,004

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

1,004

1,004

Distribution to owners

(6,158)

-

(6,158)

Capital appropriations

-

-

-

Total

(6,158)

-

(6,158)

Balance at 30 June 2018

13,325

11,437

24,762

Note

Balance at 1 July 2016

9.7

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Balance at 30 June 2017
Balance at 1 July 2017

9.7

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Service appropriation

27,943

28,473

Net assets transferred to Government

(6,158)

-

3,127

370

24,912

28,843

(16,829)

(18,471)

Supplies and services

(4,580)

(4,687)

Accommodation

(4,571)

(4,643)

GST payments on purchases

(1,239)

(1,026)

(789)

(984)

37

35

1,274

1,028

123

268

(26,574)

(28,480)

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Holding account drawdown
Net cash provided by State Government
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employees benefits

Other payments
Receipts
GST receipts from services
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities

7.1.2

Table continued on next page >

74 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

Managing finances
and performance

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2018
< Table continued from previous page

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

(3,411)

(584)

134

108

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,277)

(476)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(4,939)

(113)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

10,761

10,874

5,822

10,761

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

7.1.2

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Basis of preparation

The Commission is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of
Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The entity is a not-for-profit entity
(as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units.
A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been
included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable
Authority of the Commission on 17 September 2018.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:
•
•
•
•

The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI)
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable interpretations
Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not for profit entities
have been applied

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions)
take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary
application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has
had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

5
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For the year ended 30 June 2018
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis
of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a
different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the
different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts
affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated
assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed equity
The AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer)
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to
Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure
of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

2.1 Commission objectives

How the Commission operates

Mission

This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the Commission
receives and how this funding is utilised to achieve the Commission’s objectives.

The Commission’s purpose is to maintain and enhance the integrity of the
Western Australian public sector, and to work with public authorities to reduce
serious misconduct, including police misconduct. The Commission is predominantly
funded by Parliamentary appropriations.

Notes

Commission objectives

2.1

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

2.2

Services
The Commission provides the following services:
Service 1: Building public sector integrity and capacity to deal with misconduct
To assist public authorities to build their capacity to prevent, identify and deal
with misconduct and all associated risks through research, education, analysis
and investigation.
Service 2: Organised crime function
To facilitate investigations into organised crime by dealing with applications received
from the Western Australia Police for exceptional powers findings and fortification
warning notices; to support, monitor and review the use of such powers; and,
where required, to participate in the processes of considering charges, prosecutions
and appeals.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

2.2 Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Building public sector integrity and
capacity to deal with misconduct

Organised crime function

Total

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

17,761

17,872

-

-

17,761

17,872

Supplies and services

4,470

4,459

-

-

4,470

4,459

Depreciation and amortisation expense

1,131

1,133

-

-

1,131

1,133

Accommodation expenses

4,581

4,653

-

-

4,581

4,653

787

982

-

-

787

982

28,730

29,099

-

-

28,730

29,099

142

258

-

-

142

258

12

93

-

-

12

93

154

351

-

-

154

351

28,576

28,748

-

-

28,576

28,748

29,482

30,114

-

-

29,482

30,114

98

92

-

-

98

92

Total Income from State Government

29,580

30,206

-

-

29,580

30,206

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

1,004

1,458

-

-

1,004

1,458

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense

Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Other revenue
Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Services received free of charge

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
3

Use of our funding

This section provides additional information about how the Commission’s funding
is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the
items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the
Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:
Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Employee benefits expenses

3.1.1

17,761

17,872

Employee benefits provisions

3.1.2

4,296

3,364

3.2

9,838

10,094

3.1.1 Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries(a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans

(b)

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

16,164

16,311

1,597

1,561

17,761

17,872

(a)	Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component,
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.
(b)

5
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

Wages and salaries: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination
payments and WorkCover premiums.

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Other expenses

4

Building
capacity

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent
contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. The employer
contribution paid to the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in respect
of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of
employees and whole of government reporting. It is however a defined contribution
plan for the Commission’s purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined
contributions) made by the Commission to GESB extinguishes the Commission’s
obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The Commission does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal
or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. The Liabilities
for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable
to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the
Commission to the GESB.
The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees
vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESBS and other eligible funds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
3.1.2 Employee benefits provisions

2017
$'000

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)
Purchased leave (c)
Long service leave (b)

1,211

997

23

-

2,154

1,674

3,388

2,671

31

25

31

25

3,419

2,696

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
Total current employee benefits provision

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (c)

869

662

869

662

8

6

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
Total non-current employee benefits provision
Total employee benefits provisions
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a)	Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur
as follows:

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and
recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.
2018
$'000

6

Managing
finances and
performance

8

6

877

668

4,296

3,364

Within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

959

815

252

182

1,211

997

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.
b)	Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are
classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as
non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right to
defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite
years of service.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
3.1.2 Employee benefits provisions (continued)

7

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

d)	Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities
gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur
as follows:
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period

1,015

780

More than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period

2,008

1,556

3,023

2,336

The components of the long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value
as the Commission does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months.
The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected
future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using market yields at the
end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
c)

6
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Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when
the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are
included as part of ‘Other expenses, Note 3.2 (apart from the unwinding of the
discount (finance cost))’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s ‘employee
benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment
on-costs provision’.
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

31

36

635

818

(627)

(823)

39

31

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits
Carrying amount at end of period

 eferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no
D
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

23

-

-

-

23

-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
3.1.2 Employee benefits provisions (continued)

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission’s long service
leave provision. These include:
•
•
•
•

Expected future salary rates
Discount rates
Employee retention rates; and
Expected future payments

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

606

441

2,644

2,949

Motor vehicle expenses

184

163

Legal expenses

191

213

Publications and printing

141

45

Consumables

208

230

Minor plant and equipment

436

316

60

102

4,470

4,459

3,186

3,299

Building outgoings

726

536

Parking

245

237

Supplies and services
Communications
Consultants and contractors

Travel

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of
the long service leave provision.

Total supplies and services expenses

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities
is recognised as employee benefits expense.

Accommodation expenses
Lease expense

Cleaning
Electricity and water
Repairs and maintenance
Total accommodation expenses
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7

3.2 Other expenses

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience
and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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76

92

301

317

47

172

4,581

4,653
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4

3.2 Other expenses (continued)
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

34

35

Employment on-costs

635

818

Audit fees

113

125

5

4

787

982

9,838

10,094

Other expenditures
Equipment repairs and maintenance

Other expenses
Total other expenditures
Total other expenses

Supplies and services: Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the
reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held
for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.
Accommodation expenses: Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased
asset. Repairs, maintenance and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.
Other expenditure: Other operating expenses generally represent the other day-to-day
running costs incurred in normal operations. These include:
Repairs and maintenance costs that are recognised as expenses as incurred,
except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset.
In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment
on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service
leave liabilities is included at Note 3.1.2 Employee benefit provision. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are
not included in employment on-costs.
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Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding
This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its
funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Commission and the
relevant notes are:
Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Income from State Government

4.1

29,580

30,206

Other revenue

4.2

142

258

Gains

4.3

12

93

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

29,482

30,114

29,482

30,114

4.1 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)

Services received free of charge (b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates
provided by the relevant agencies:
Building Management and Works

25

9

State Solicitors Office

73

83

Total services received

98

92

29,580

30,206

Total income from State Government
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.1 Income from State Government (continued)

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in
note 2.2). Appropriation revenue comprises the following:
•

•

4.2 Other revenue
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2017
$'000

Operations equipment and motor vehicles

134

108

(122)

(15)

12

93

Realised and unrealised gains: Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on
a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some
revaluations of non-current assets.

b)	Services received free of charge: Services received free of charge or for nominal
cost are recognized as revenue at fair value of the services that can be reliably
measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated.
Contributions of services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised
direct to equity.

Total other revenue

2018
$'000

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Total other income

The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and
Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

Contributions to government vehicle scheme

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Operations equipment and motor vehicles

Cash component; and
A receivable (asset).

Other revenue

7

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

The receivable (holding account – note 6.2) comprises the following:
•

6
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4.3 Gains

a)	Service Appropriations: Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair
value in the period in which the Commission gains control of the appropriated
funds. The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time those
funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

•

5
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2018
$'000

2017
$'000

118

235

24

23

142

258

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from
the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive
income (from the proceeds of sale).
Selling expenses (e.g. sales commissions netted from Commission receipts) are ordinarily
immaterial. Where the amounts are material, additional disclosure is warranted.
Insured non-current assets written-off as a result of an insurable event should be
treated as other expenses (write-off of assets destroyed by fire/storm/earthquake etc.).
The subsequent insurance recovery is to be treated as other income when it is received
or receivable.

Managing finances
and performance

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
5

Key assets

5

Organisational
governance
and people

7

Appendices
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5.1 Plant and equipment

Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to
gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key
accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

75

254

(53)

(240)

22

14

6,494

4,948

(3,898)

(3,854)

2,596

1,094

4,285

5,324

(4,111)

(4,991)

174

333

1,414

6,427

(39)

(6,238)

1,375

189

-

365

-

365

4,167

1,995

Office equipment
At cost

Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Plant and equipment

5.1

4,167

1,995

Intangibles

5.2

82

96

4,249

2,091

Total assets

6
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Accumulated depreciation
Computer equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Operations equipment and motor vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Work in progress
At cost
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5.1 Plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.
Office
equipment
$'000

Computer
equipment
$'000

Operations
equipment
vehicles
$'000

Leasehold
improvements
$'000

Works in
progress
$'000

Total
$'000

Carrying amount at start of year

14

1,094

333

189

365

1,995

Additions

19

2,234

65

1,414

(365)

3,367

Disposals

(2)

(100)

(3)

(14)

Depreciation

(9)

(632)

(221)

(214)

-

(1,076)

Carrying amount at end of year

22

2,596

174

1,375

-

4,167

Office
equipment
$'000

Computer
equipment
$'000

Operations
equipment
vehicles
$'000

Leasehold
improvements
$'000

Works in
progress
$'000

Total
$'000

31

597

693

417

797

2,535

Additions

-

139

49

-

365

553

Movements

-

797

-

-

(797)

-

2018

(119)

2017
Carrying amount at start of year

Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
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-

-

(15)

-

-

(15)

(17)

(439)

(394)

(228)

-

(1,078)

14

1,094

333

189

365

1,995
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5.1 Plant and equipment (continued)
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Finite useful lives
All plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future
economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases and
assets held for sale.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter
of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold
improvement.
The initial cost for a non-financial physical asset under a finance lease is measured at
amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent measurement
All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

5.1.1 Depreciation charge for the period
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Depreciation
9

17

632

439

Operations equipment and motor vehicles

221

394

Leasehold improvements

214

228

1,076

1,078

Total depreciation

7

Please refer to note 5.2 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has
been performed for intangible assets.

Items of plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost.
Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value
at the date of acquisition. Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than
where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Computer equipment

6
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As at 30 June 2018 there were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2018 have either been classified as assets held for sale or
have been written-off.

Initial recognition

Office equipment

5

Organisational
governance
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Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate
the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years
are outlined below:
Leasehold improvements

10 - 15 years or remaining period of lease

Computer equipment

3 years

Operations equipment

3 - 5 years

Office equipment

3 - 5 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Software (a)

3 years

(a)

Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made
where appropriate.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives.
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5.2 Intangible assets
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

1,396

1,385

(1,314)

(1,289)

82

96

Carrying amount at start of period

96

120

Additions

41

31

Disposals

-

-

(55)

(55)

82

96

Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

Organisational
governance
and people

Computer Software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. If there is an indication that
there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying
amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

Reconciliations:

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any
impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

Amortisation expense

Computer Software

Carrying amount at end of period

Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as per
AASB 138.57 (as noted below), are capitalised. Costs incurred below these thresholds
are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring
the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.
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5.2 Intangible assets (continued)

Website Costs

5.2.1 Amortisation charge for the period

Website costs are expensed when incurred unless they directly relate to the acquisition
or development of an intangible asset. In this instance they may be capitalised and
amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of
a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, are
capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits.

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Software

55

55

Total amortisation

55

55

Amortisation

As at 30 June 2018 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.
The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets
not yet available for use.
Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at
rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets
controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Estimated
useful lives are reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software (a)

3 - 5 years

Website costs

3 - 5 years

(a)

Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an
indication of impairment is identified.

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as part of
the tangible asset. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is
recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in
the year of acquisition.

6

Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission’s
controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and
liabilities incurred during normal operations:
Notes

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Receivables

6.1

359

412

Amounts receivable for services
(Holding Account)

6.2

17,879

19,467

Other assets

6.3

976

728

Payables

6.4

227

179

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1.
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6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Current

Current
Non-current

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2,200

3,127

15,679

16,340

17,879

19,467

Receivables

105

125

Goods and Services Tax (GST) receivable

113

148

Total current

218

273

Amounts receivable for services: Amounts receivable for services represent the
non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be
used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

Receivables

141

139

Total non-current

141

139

Total receivables

359

412

The Commission receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid
partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount
receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover
leave entitlements and asset replacement.

Non-Current

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security
for receivables.
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables
identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance
for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that
the Commission will not be able to collect the debts.
The Commission has no allowance for impairment of receivables at 30 June 2018
(2017: $nil).

90 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

6.3 Other assets

Prepayments

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

976

728

976

728

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance
of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period
covering a term extending beyond that period.
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6.4 Payables
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Financing

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing
and cash flows of the Commission:

104

67

Notes

Accrued salaries

54

54

Accrued expenses

69

58

227

179

Current
Payables

Payables: Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.
Accrued salaries: Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at
the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the
reporting period end. The Commission considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries
to be equivalent to its fair value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (See Note 7.1.1 ‘Restricted cash and cash
equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually, from Commission appropriations for
salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow
for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the
normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Cash and cash equivalents

7.1

Reconciliation of cash

7.1.1

Reconciliation of operating activities

7.1.2

Commitments

7.2

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

7.2.1

7.1 Cash and cash equivalents
7.1.1 Reconciliation of cash
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

5,692

10,696

130

65

5,822

10,761

Reconciliation of cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted
and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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7.1.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided
by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

(28,576)

(28,748)

Gain/loss from sale of non-current assets
Resources received free of charge

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

The mandatory application of AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107 imposed disclosure impacts
only. The Commission is not exposed to changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash flows.

7.2 Commitments
7.2.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Non-cash Items
Depreciation and amortisation expense

5

Organisational
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1,131

1,133

(12)

(93)

98

92

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

23,501

2,235

The commitments below are inclusive of GST
where relevant.
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables(a)

20

49

Non-current receivables(a)

(2)

(4)

(248)

(318)

Other current assets

Office accommodation
Motor vehicles

409

166

23,910

2,401

Within 1 year

1,855

2,306

6,854

95

15,201

-

23,910

2,401

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable
as follows:

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables(a)

48

60

Current provisions

723

(505)

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

Non-current provisions

209

(148)

Later than 5 years

35

2

(26,574)

(28,480)

Change in GST in receivables/payables
Net cash used in operating activities
(a)

 ote that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/
N
payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not
form part of the reconciling items.
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The Commission has entered into operating lease agreements for buildings and
motor vehicles where the lessors effectively retain all the risks and benefits incidental
to ownership of the items held under the operating leases.
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

Managing finances
and performance

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

7.2.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management

Judgments made by management in applying accounting policies –
Operating lease commitments

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables and payables. The Commission has
limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.

The Commission has entered into leases for buildings for office accommodation.
These leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined
that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

(a) Summary of risks and risk management
Credit risk

8

Risks and Contingencies

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission's receivables defaulting
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Commission.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of
the Commission:
Notes

Financial risk management

8.1

Contingent assets and liabilities

8.2

Contingent assets

8.2.1

Contingent liabilities

8.2.1

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets
inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 8.1(c) ‘Financial
instruments disclosures’ and note 6.1 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the Commission's financial assets is minimal because the
main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables
other than Government, the Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy
third parties. The Commission has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Commission's
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due. The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the
normal course of business. The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash
flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Categories of financial instruments

Market risk

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and
interest rates will affect the Commission's income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The Commission does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially
exposed to other price risks.
The Commission is not exposed to interest rate risk because the majority of cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and it has no borrowings.

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

5,692

10,696

130

65

18,125

19,731

227

179

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables

(a)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
(a)
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8.1 Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired
Carrying
Amount
$'000

Not past
due and not
Impaired
$'000

5,692

5,692

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

130

130

Receivables

246

168

Up to 1
month
$'000

1-3
months
$'000

3 months
to 1 year
$'000

1-5
years
$'000

More than 5
years
$'000

Impaired
financial
assets
$'000

2018
Cash and cash equivalents
(a)

Amounts receivable for services

57

21

17,879

17,879

23,947

23,869

-

57

-

21

-

-

10,696

10,696

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

65

-

-

-

-

-

-

264

264

-

-

-

-

-

-

19,467

19,467

-

-

-

-

-

-

30,492

30,492

-

-

-

-

-

-

2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

(a)

Amounts receivable for services
(a)

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.1 Financial risk management (continued)
The following table details the Commission’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes
interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

Noninterest
bearing
$'000

Nominal
amount
$'000

Up to 1
month
$'000

5,692

5,692

5,692

5,692

130

130

130

130
105

Carrying
amount
$'000

Fixed
interest
rate
$'000

Variable
interest
rate
$'000

1-3
months
$'000

3 months
to 1 year
$'000

1-5
years
$'000

More than
5 years
$'000

595

1,605

4,600

11,079

595

1,605

4,741

11,079

-

-

-

-

2018
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

(a)

Amounts receivable for services
-

246

246

246

17,879

17,879

17,879

23,947

23,947

5,927

227

227

227

227

227

227

23,947

-

-

141

Financial Liabilities
Payables

227
-

(a)

227

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.1 Financial risk management (continued)
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

Carrying
amount
$'000

Fixed
interest
rate
$'000

Variable
interest
rate
$'000

Noninterest
bearing
$'000

Nominal
amount
$'000

Up to 1
month
$'000

1-3
months
$'000

3 months
to 1 year
$'000

1-5
years
$'000

More than
5 years
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

-

10,696

-

-

10,696

10,696

10,696

-

-

-

-

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

-

65

-

-

65

65

65

-

-

-

-

Receivables

-

264

-

-

264

264

174

-

-

139

-

Amounts receivable for services

-

19,467

-

-

19,467

19,467

-

918

2,209

5,673

10,667

-

30,492

-

-

30,492

30,492

10,935

918

2,209

5,812

10,667

-

179

-

-

179

179

179

-

-

-

-

-

179

-

-

179

179

179

-

-

-

-

2017
Financial Assets

(a)

Financial Liabilities
Payables
(a)

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(e) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Commission does not have any financial assets and liabilities that are subject to fluctuations in interest rates.
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8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

9

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of
financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the
Commission:

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or
payable respectively.

Other disclosures

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

9.1

8.2.1 Contingent assets

Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative

9.2

The Commission has no contingent assets.

Key Management personnel

9.3

Related parties

9.4

Related bodies

9.5

Remuneration of auditors

9.6

Equity

9.7

Supplementary financial information

9.8

Explanatory statement

9.9

8.2.2 Contingent liabilities
The Commission has no contingent liabilities.

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There have been no material events occurring after 30 June 2018.
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9.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements
or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 9

1 Jan 2018

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number
of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6,
AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.
The Commission has assessed that recognition of expected credit losses will increase the amount of impairment losses
recognised as Other expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income by $0, and thus have an adverse impact on the
Commission’s Surplus/(Deficit) for the period.

AASB 15

1 Jan 2019

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission shall apply to report useful information to users of financial
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a
customer. The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2019 after being amended by AASB 2016-7.
The Commission's income is principally derived from appropriations which will be measured under AASB 1058 and will be
unaffected by this change. However, the Commission has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard on
‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions attached to these
revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Commission has discharged its performance obligations.
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9.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 16

Leases

1 Jan 2019

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.
Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently has commitments for $23.9 million worth
of non cancellable operating leases which will mostly be brought onto the statement of financial position. Interest and
amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.
AASB 1058

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not for profit (NFP) entities, more
closely reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing of income
recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligation (a promise
to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by
an entity.
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 1059

Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type of public private partnership) by a
grantor that is a public sector entity by prescribing the accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective.
Timing and measurement for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the arrangement and
the accounting for associated liabilities is determined by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public
service provided.
The Commission has not identified any public private partnerships within scope of the Standard.
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9.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108,
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.
Other than the exposures to AASB 9 noted above, the Commission is not significantly impacted by the application
of the Standard.
AASB 2014-1

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards.
These changes have no impact as Appendix E has been superseded and the Commission was not permitted to early
adopt AASB 9.

AASB 2014-5

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations)
arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8
to 1 January 2018.
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations)
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014).
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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9.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 2016-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, timing of recognising
revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15.
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact when the deferred AASB 15 becomes
effective from 1 January 2019.
AASB 2016-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not for Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities into
AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions
and other events. There is no financial impact.

9.3 Key management personnel
The Commission has determined that key management personnel include Ministers,
members, and senior officers of the Commission. However, the Commission is not
obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers'
compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.
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Total compensation for key management personnel, comprising members of the
accountable authority and senior officers, of the Commission for the reporting period
are presented within the following bands:
Compensation of members of the accountable authority
$

2018

2017

30,001 - 40,000

1

-

470,001 - 480,000

1

-

540,001 - 550,000

-
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Compensation of senior officers

9.3 Key management personnel (continued)
Compensation of senior officers
$

Organisational
governance
and people

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission
in respect of members of the accountable authority. In the Commission, members of the
accountable authority are the Commissioner and Acting Commissioners as appointed
under the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003.

2018

2017

130,001 - 140,000

-

1

140,001 - 150,000

-

1

190,001 - 200,000

1

-

200,001 - 210,000

1

-

210,001 - 220,000

-

1

240,001 - 250,000

1

-

9.4 Related parties

250,000 - 260,000

-

1

270,000 - 280,000

1

280,001 - 290,000

-

1

370,001 - 380,000

1

-

The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western
Australia. In conducting its activities, the Commission is required to pay various taxes and
levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers
to the State and entities related to the State. The payment of these taxes and levies, is
based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers.

460,001 - 470,000

-

1

Related parties of the Commission include:

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

•

1,717

1,716

•

Post-employment benefits

125

119

Other long-term benefits

(40)

21

-

199

1,802

2,055

Short-term employee benefits

Termination benefits
Total compensation of senior officers

Commissioner McKechnie also receives a pension in accordance with the Judges'
Salaries and Pensions Act 1950 equivalent to 60% of his judicial salary upon retirement.
This equates to $272,707 per annum.

•
•
•

all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly
controlled entities;
all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly
controlled entities;
other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in
the whole of government consolidated financial statements;
associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government
consolidated financial statements; and
the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).
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9.4 Related parties (continued)
Significant transactions include:
• Income from State Government (Note 4.1);
• Contributed equity (Note 9.7);
• Services received free of charge from Building Management and Works
and the State Solicitors Office (note 4.1);
• Superannuation payments to GESB (Note 3.1.1);
• Lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance ($3,099,270 – Note 3.2);
• Commitments for future lease payments to the Department of Finance
($23.9 million – Note 7.2.1); and
• Remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (note 9.6).

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

19,483

19,483

Capital appropriation

-

-

Total contribution by owners

-

-

Net assets transferred to Government

(6,158)

-

Total contribution by owners

(6,158)

-

Balance at end of period

13,325

19,483

10,433

8,975

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contributions by owners

Distribution to owners

Significant transaction with other related entities
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission, there were no
related party transactions that involved key management personnel and their close
family members. No provision for doubtful debts has been required, any commitments
disclosed, nor any expense incurred.
No significant transactions were conducted with any other related entities.

9.5 Related bodies

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period
Result for the period

The Commission had no related bodies during the financial year.

9.6 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
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9.7 Equity

Significant transactions with Government-related entities

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and
performance indicators

6

Managing
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2018
$'000

2017
$'000

43

43

1,004

1,458

Balance at end of period

11,437

10,433

Total Equity at end of period

24,762

29,916
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9.9 Explanatory statement
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

-

14

-

14

Write-offs
Bad debts written off under the authority of the
accountable authority

5

Organisational
governance
and people

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2018,
and between the actual results for 2018 and 2017 are shown below. Narratives are
provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are
generally greater than:
•
•

5% and $0.582 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income
and Cash Flow; and
5% and $0.669 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public moneys and, public and other property
through theft or default

-

-

Amounts recovered

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gifts of public property
Gifts of public property provided by the Commission

The Commission gifted public property as part of the relocation to its new premises.
Some property from the old location was gifted to other Federal and State agencies and
some to not for profit organisations. The values were minimal and cannot be accurately
determined.
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9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

17,761

17,872

(1,389)

(111)

4,470

4,459

2,104

11

1,539

1,131

1,133

(408)

(2)

5,945

4,581

4,653

(1,364)

(72)

1,173

787

982

(386)

(195)

30,173

28,730

29,099

(1,443)

(369)

Other revenue

40

142

258

102

(116)

Total Revenue

40

142

258

102

(116)

Gain on disposal of non-current assets

-

12

93

12

(81)

Total Gains

-

12

93

12

(81)

40

154

351

114

(197)

30,133

28,576

28,748

(1,557)

(172)

Variance
note

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

Employee benefits expense

1

19,150

Supplies and services

2

2,366

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Other expenses
Total cost of services

3

Income
Revenue

Gains

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

Table continued on next page >
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

29,482

30,114

(401)

(632)

98

92

90

6

29,891

29,580

30,206

(311)

(626)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(242)

1,004

1,458

1,246

(454)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

(242)

1,004

1,458

1,246

(454)

< Table continued from previous page

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

29,883
8

Total income from State Government

Variance
note

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

5,692

10,696

2,086

(5,004)

313

218

273

(95)

(55)

2,200

2,200

3,127

-

(927)

411

976

728

565

248

-

-

-

-

-

6,530

9,086

14,824

2,556

(5,738)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

165

130

65

(35)

65

Receivables

135

141

139

6

2

Variance
note

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

4, A

3,606

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services

B

Other current assets
Non-Current assets held for distribution to owner
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets

Amounts receivable for services

5, B

14,072

15,679

16,340

1,607

(661)

Property, plant and equipment

6, C

19,466

4,167

1,995

(15,299)

2,172

465

82

96

(383)

(14)

Total Non-Current Assets

34,303

20,199

18,635

(14,104)

1,564

TOTAL ASSETS

40,833

29,285

33,459

(11,548)

(4,174)

Intangible assets

Table continued on next page >
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

227

179

(11)

48

3,201

3,419

2,696

218

723

3,439

3,646

2,875

207

771

816

877

668

61

209

9,792

-

-

(9,792)

-

Total Non-Current Liabilities

10,608

877

668

(9,731)

209

TOTAL LIABILITIES

14,047

4,523

3,543

(9,524)

980

NET ASSETS

26,786

24,762

29,916

(2,024)

(5,154)

18,383

13,325

19,483

(5,058)

(6,158)

< Table continued from previous page

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

238

Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

Variance
note

Statement of Financial Position (continued)
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Other

7

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

8,403

11,437

10,433

3,034

1,004

26,786

24,762

29,916

(2,024)

(5,154)
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Variance
note

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

Statement of Cash Flows
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation

28,344

27,943

28,473

(401)

(530)

8, D

-

(6,158)

-

(6,158)

(6,158)

E

3,127

3,127

370

-

2,757

31,471

24,912

28,843

(6,559)

(3,931)

9, F

(19,090)

(16,829)

(18,471)

2,261

1,642

Supplies and services

10

(2,366)

(4,580)

(4,687)

(2,214)

107

Accommodation

11

(5,939)

(4,571)

(4,643)

1,368

72

GST payments on purchases

(1,070)

(1,239)

(1,026)

(169)

(213)

Other payments

(1,171)

(789)

(984)

382

195

4

37

35

33

2

1,063

1,274

1,028

211

246

Net assets transferred to Government
Holding account drawdown
Net cash provided by State Government
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employees benefits

Receipts
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities

40

123

268

83

(145)

(28,529)

(26,574)

(28,480)

1,955

1,906

Table continued on next page >
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
Actual
2017
$'000

Variance
between
estimate
and actual
$'000

Variance
between actual
results for
2018 and 2017
$'000

(3,411)

(584)

14,867

(2,827)

-

134

108

134

26

9,792

-

-

(9,792)

-

Net cash used in investing activities

(8,486)

(3,277)

(476)

5,209

(2,801)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(5,544)

(4,939)

(113)

605

(4,826)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

9,315

10,761

10,874

1,446

(113)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

3,771

5,822

10,761

2,051

(4,939)

< Table continued from previous page

Variance
note

Original
budget
2018
$'000

Actual
2018
$'000

12, G

(18,278)

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Other receipts

13
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9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)
The 'Original Budget 2018' presented in this explanatory statement (note 9.9) is the
budget appropriated to the Commission as part of the 2017-18 Budget process and
contained in the 2017-18 Budget Papers. It does not incorporate adjustments made to
the Commission's appropriation throughout the 2017-18 financial year.
In certain instances, line item presentation of expenses and revenues in the Budget
Papers varies slightly from that required in the presentation of the annual financial
statements. For comparability, these items have been realigned as detailed below:

Major variance narratives
Variances between estimate and actual
Statement of Comprehensive Income
1	Employee benefits expense were lower than budget by $1.4 million (7%)
largely due to vacancies and delays in filling positions during the year.
2	Supplies and services were higher than the budget by $2.1 million (89%)
mainly due to higher costs associated with the relocation to the Commission's
new premises and the implementation of the Commission's Information
Management Plan.
3	Accommodation expenses were lower than budget by $1.4 million (23%).
The accommodation expenses in 2017-18 were lower than expected largely as
the accommodation budget for the relocation was based on a higher cost and
the actual costs were lower than anticipated.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

Statement of Financial Position
4	Cash and cash equivalents increased by $2.1 million (58%) largely due to the
lower than expected fit-out costs for the new premises in Northbridge.
5	Amounts receivable for services non-current increased by $1.6 million (11%).
This account represents potential funding for asset replacement and leave
payments. The increase reflects funding provided to fit-out the new premises
in Northbridge.
6	Property, plant and equipment was lower by $15.3 million (79%). The original
budget allowed for the full relocation to be paid for by the Commission.
This was amended during the Treasury 2017-18 mid-year review process as
it was agreed that a large portion of the relocation project would be paid for
by the Department of Finance.
7	Other non-current liabilities of $9.8 million were less than budget as it was
agreed that a large portion of the relocation project would be paid for by the
Department of Finance. This was amended in the Treasury 2017-18 mid-year
review process.
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6

Variance between actual results for 2018 and 2017

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Comprehensive Income

9	Employee benefits expense were lower than budget by $2.2 million (12%)
largely due to vacancies and delays in filling positions during the year.
10	Supplies and services were higher than the budget by $2.2 million (94%)
mainly due to higher costs associated with the relocation to the Commission's
new premises and the implementation of the Commission's Information
Management Plan.
11	Accommodation expenses were lower than budget by $1.4 million (23%)
as the accommodation budget for the relocation was based on a higher cost
and the actual costs were lower than anticipated.
12	Purchase of non-current assets $14.9 million (81%) was lower than expected
as the original budget allowed for the full relocation to be paid for by the
Commission. This was amended during the Treasury 2017-18 mid-year review
process as it was agreed that a large portion of the relocation project would
be paid for by the Department of Finance.
13	Other receipts for $9.8 million related to the budgeted leasehold incentives to
partially fund the fit-out of the new building in Northbridge. This was amended
during the Treasury 2017-18 mid-year review process as it was agreed that a
large portion of the relocation project would be paid for by the Department of
Finance who would retain the leasehold incentive funds.

7

Appendices

For the year ended 30 June 2018

9.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

8	Net assets transferred to Government for $6.2 million reflects the return of
cash to the Consolidated Account during the financial year following a review
by Treasury of agencies cash balances during the year.

Managing
finances and
performance

No significant variations were recorded between the actual results for 2018 and 2017.

Statement of Financial Position
A.	Cash and cash equivalents decreased in 2017-18 by $5 million (47%) largely
as the Commission returned $6.158 million to the Consolidated account
during the financial year following a review of the cash balances by Treasury
during the year.
B.	Current and non-current amounts receivable for services accounts decreased by
$1.6 million. The account represents cash to fund the replacement of assets in
2017-18. An additional amount was provided in 2017-18 to fund the fit-out of
the new premises in Northbridge.
C.	Property, plant and equipment increased by $2.2 million (109%) largely due
to the capitalisation of assets associated with the relocation to new premises
in Northbridge.

Statement of Cash Flows
D.	Net assets transferred to Government for $6.2 million reflects the return of
cash to the Consolidated Account during the financial year following a review
by Treasury of agencies cash balances during the year.
E.	Holding account drawdown was lower by $2.8 million in 2016-17 as large
portion of funding for the relocation to the Northbridge premises was
transferred into 2017-18 to fund the fit-out.
F.	Employee benefits expense were lower than the previous year by $1.6 million
(9%) largely due to vacancies and delays in filling positions during the year.
G.	Purchases of non-current physical assets increased by $6 million largely due
to the capitalisation of assets associated with the relocation to new premises
in Northbridge.
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Key Performance Indicators
Certification of Performance Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2018
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records,
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Corruption and
Crime Commission’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the
Corruption and Crime Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Hon. John McKechnie, QC
COMMISSIONER
17 September 2018

Service One: Building public sector agency integrity
and capacity to deal with misconduct
Effectiveness indicators
Number of allegations received
2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

7,260

5,283

4,024

4,939

4,800

5,051

The Commission receives notifications and reports of suspected serious misconduct
from many sources, including public authorities and members of the public. Each of
these notifications may contain one or more allegations and the Commission is required
to assess each allegation individually.
In 2017-18, the number of allegations received by the Commission exceeded the
target, and the amount remained consistent, with a slight increase of 112 notifications
from 2016-17.
Effectiveness indicators
Number of reports published in accordance with the CCM Act
2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

4

5

9

8

6

13

The role of the Corruption and Crime Commission is to give the Western Australian
community confidence that public officers act in the public interest and not for
self-interest. The Commission aims to improve the integrity of, and to reduce the
incidence of serious misconduct in, the public sector.
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Key Performance Indicators (continued)
The Commission uses a range of mechanisms to build public sector capacity and assist
public authorities to prevent, identify and respond to serious misconduct. One way is
by making recommendations and publishing reports on the outcome of investigations,
to expose instances of serious misconduct and to provide anti-corruption lessons for
individuals, the private sector and public authorities.
Reports inform the public sector and are necessary to enable agencies to address serious
misconduct risks identified by the circumstances revealed in a report. Reports enable the
Parliament of Western Australia and the Western Australian community to be satisfied
that allegations of serious misconduct have been dealt with appropriately.
The Commission takes decisions about releasing information to the public very seriously
and does so only after a determination that the benefits of public exposure and public
awareness outweigh the potential for prejudice and privacy infringements.
The number of reports tabled in Parliament by the Commission increased significantly in
2017-18, due to a focus on targeting corruption risk 'hot spots', such as the State's prison
system, which was the subject of five reports during May and June 2018.
Efficiency indicator

The 2017-18 actual average cost is lower than target and marginally lower than
the previous year's actual results. This is due to slightly lower costs in operating
the Commission in 2017-18 and an increase in the number of FTEs employed within
public authorities.

Service Two: Organised crime function
The Commission received no applications for the use of exceptional powers or
fortification warning notices during 2017-18 and, therefore, the cost to the
Commission was $0.
Effectiveness indicator
Number of applications for exceptional powers findings and fortification warning
notices received within the financial year
2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

1

0

0

0

0

0

Effectiveness indicator

Average cost of service per FTE employed within public authorities under the
Commission’s jurisdiction

Number of applications for exceptional powers findings and fortification warning
notices dealt with within the financial year

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

$211

$205

$177

$182

$196

$179

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

1

0

0

0

0

0

This efficiency indicator reflects the total cost of the Commission, divided by the number
of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) in the Commission's jurisdiction (excluding any resources
applied to the organised crime function).
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Key Performance Indicators (continued)
Effectiveness indicator
Average lapsed time taken to deal with applications for exceptional powers findings
and fortification warning notices
2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

14 days

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

Efficiency indicator
Average cost per matter involving the use of exceptional powers and fortification
warning notices over the financial year
2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Actual

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

The Commission’s capacity to influence the incidence of organised crime is limited by
the CCM Act to approving the use of ‘exceptional powers’ and issuing ‘Fortification
Warning Notices’. Both depend on an application made by the Commissioner of Police.
To maintain impartiality and independence, the Commission does not assist in the
application process.
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The main reasons for lack of applications relates to:
• the definition of ‘organised crime’ under the CCM Act which is both narrow
and confusing;
• the enactment of the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 that has
made many of the exceptional powers directly available to the WA Police Force.
Only coercive examination, search and anti-fortification powers (Fortification
Warning Notices) now need to be sought from the Commission. The WA Police
Force is also able to apply for coercive examinations through the Australian
Criminal Intelligence Commission; and
• with regard to Fortification Warning Notices, a shortcoming that fails to discourage
organised crime groups from re-fortifying premises previously dismantled.
In April 2014 the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission
issued Report 10 WA Police’s use of Part 4 'exceptional powers’ in the Corruption and
Crime Commission Act 2003. The report details the issues and constraints inherent
in the current definitions and processes. It recommends amendment to the definition
of organised crime in the CCM Act and also amendment to the CCM Act to prevent
re-fortification.
The Commission has received no applications from the WA Police Force for the use
of ‘exceptional powers’ since April 2012 and one Fortification Warning Notice since
January 2011.
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Other financial disclosures
Major capital projects
The Commission’s Asset Investment Budget for 2017-18 totalled $18.3 million;
however, this was reduced to $8.5 million as the original budget allowed for the
full relocation of its offices to Northbridge to be paid for by the Commission.
This budget was amended as part of the Treasury 2017-18 Mid-Year Review
Process as it was agreed that a large portion of the relocation project would be
paid for by the Department of Finance.
Major capital works expenditure during 2017-18 included:
• Relocation costs: Expenditure during the year totalled $3.2 million. The costs
largely related to the office fit-out and information technology costs associated
with the relocation to Northbridge.
• Operations support equipment: Expenditure during the financial year
totalled $332,000. The costs incurred were used to maintain the operational
capacity of the Commission. This included the upgrade of infrastructure and
surveillance equipment.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
In compliance with Treasurer’s Instruction 321 ‘Credit cards – authorised use’, the
Commission is required to report where a Western Australian Government Purchasing
Card (a ‘credit card’) is utilised for personal use. Personal use of a Commission credit
card in the 2017-18 reporting period is detailed in Table 14.

Table 14: Personal use of Commission credit card
Personal use

Cost ($)

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting period

41

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the due date
(within five working days)

41

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the period
(after five working days)

0

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at the
balance date

0

Officers of the Commission hold Commission credit cards where their functions warrant
use of this facility. Cardholders are reminded of their obligations under the Commission’s
credit card policy; however, one employee inadvertently utilised their card for personal
use. The matter was not referred for disciplinary action by the Chief Finance Officer as
the amount was settled promptly, the nature of the expenditure was immaterial and the
transaction characteristic of an honest mistake.

Advertising and polling
In compliance with the Electoral Act 1907 s175ZE, the Commission is required to report
on expenditure incurred in relation to advertising agencies and marketing research,
polling (surveys), direct mail and media advertising organisations. Expenditure incurred
in relation to those matters in 2017-18 is detailed in Table 15.
Table 15: Advertising and polling expenses incurred
Expense type

Cost ($)

Advertising

0

Polling

0

Total expenses

0

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18 | 117

Appendices

1

Appendices

118 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2017-18

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Appendices

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of
serious
misconduct

3

Responding
to serious
misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Organisational
governance
and people

6

Managing
finances and
performance

7

Appendices

Appendix A: Key legislation
Figure 8: Key legislation
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The second tier (middle circle) represents those statutes that relate but are not
immediately relevant to the Commission’s performance of its statutory functions
under the CCM Act. These include statutory compliance requirements.
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to the Commission’s performance of its statutory functions under the CCM Act.
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Figure 8, with the CCM Act at the centre, details the key legislation that affects
the performance of the Commission’s functions and operations.
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Appendix B: List of Commission investigations
Table 16: List of Commission investigations conducted in 2017-18 (including preliminary investigations)
Operation

Investigation type

Investigation relating to

Current status

1.

AFFLECK

Cooperative investigation

Alleged misuse of force and incorrect reporting

Active

2.

ALBACORE

Preliminary investigation

Alleged improper association by public officer

Active

3.

ALBION

Cooperative investigation

Alleged unlawful use of computer and unauthorised disclosure of confidential information
by public officers

Active

4.

APOLLO

Cooperative investigation

Alleged misuse of force and unprofessional conduct by public officer

Active

5.

AUBURN

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

6.

BARHAM

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement and alleged nepotism

Completed

7.

BECKFORD

Cooperative investigation

Alleged threatening behaviour by public officer

Active

8.

BELLS

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in funding application

Completed

9.

BLACKMORE

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of position for benefit

Active

10.

BOUNTY

Cooperative investigation

Alleged unlawful use of computer by public officer

Active

11.

CABOT

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

12.

CARR TWO

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

13.

CASSIUS

Preliminary investigation

Suspected inappropriate disclosure of confidential information by public officer

Completed

14.

CAVAN

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of force

Completed

15.

DAHLIA

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

16.

DAKINS

Independent investigation

Suspected inappropriate disclosure of confidential information by public officer

Completed

17.

DEL RAY

Preliminary investigation

Alleged mismanagement of investigation

Completed

18.

DELTA

Cooperative investigation

Suspected corruption in the issuing of licences

Active

19.

DRAKE

Preliminary investigation

Alleged corruption in recruitment process

Completed
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Appendix B: List of Commission investigations (continued)
Operation

Investigation type

Investigation relating to

Current status

20.

ELK

Preliminary investigation

Alleged disclosure of confidential information

Completed

21.

EMERALD

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

22.

FLAME

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

23.

FLINT

Preliminary investigation

Alleged misuse of position

Active

24.

FUZE

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

25.

HADDOCK

Cooperative investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

26.

HALDON

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

27.

INMAN

Cooperative investigation

Alleged inappropriate relationship and disclosure of confidential information

Completed

28.

IRVINE

Preliminary investigation

Alleged neglect of duty and engagement in serious misconduct

Active

29.

JACKAL

Cooperative investigation

Alleged inappropriate relationship and disclosure of confidential information

Completed

30.

JERSEY

Independent investigation

Alleged inappropriate relationship and disclosure of confidential information

Completed

31.

JUNIPER

Preliminary investigation

Alleged unlawful or inappropriate conduct

Completed

32.

KELLY

Independent investigation

Alleged fraud by medical practitioner

Completed

33.

KILKERRIN

Preliminary investigation

Alleged inappropriate relationship and disclosure of confidential information

Completed

34.

KILMORE

Cooperative investigation

Alleged inappropriate association and disclosure of confidential information by public officer

Active

35.

LANARK

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in purchase of land

Completed

36.

LAYMOOR

Independent investigation

Alleged corruption in procurement process

Completed

37.

LENNOX

Cooperative Investigation

Alleged improper association by public officers

Active

38.

LONG

Cooperative investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

39.

MARLOW

Preliminary investigation

Alleged misuse of position for personal gain

Completed
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Appendix B: List of Commission investigations (continued)
Operation

Investigation type

Investigation relating to

Current status

40.

MARNE

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

41.

MORGAN

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

42.

NEIL

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Active

43.

OAKLEY

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of resources for personal gain

Active

44.

ORACLE

Cooperative investigation

Alleged improper association by public officers

Active

45.

ORLANDO

Cooperative investigation

Alleged misuse of position

Active

46.

OVERTON

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of position for personal gain

Active

47.

PARAGON

Cooperative investigation

Suspected corruption in the issuing of licences

Completed

48.

PATTON

Preliminary investigation

Alleged misleading and deceptive conduct by public officer

Active

49.

PRESCOTT

Preliminary investigation

Alleged corrupt conduct by public officer

Completed

50.

QUANTOCK

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

51.

QUENTIN

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

52.

REDMILL

Cooperative investigation

Alleged misuse of force and incorrect reporting

Active

53.

SARA

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of position for personal gain

Active

54.

SELENE

Independent investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

55.

SPITFIRE

Cooperative investigation

Suspected trafficking of contraband into prisons

Active

56.

UPTON

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in the issuing of licences

Completed

57.

VALHALLA

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

58.

VANOC

Independent investigation

Alleged misuse of position

Active

59.

WELLAND

Preliminary Investigation

Alleged misuse of position for detriment

Completed
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Appendix B: List of Commission investigations (continued)
Operation

Investigation type

Investigation relating to

Current status

60.

WILTON

Cooperative investigation

Alleged misuse of force and incorrect reporting

Active

61.

WRECK

Preliminary investigation

Suspected corruption in procurement

Completed

62.

ZENITH

Cooperative investigation

Alleged inappropriate relationship and disclosure of confidential information

Completed

Key
Active:		
Completed:

Investigation ongoing
Investigation and, where relevant, any court proceedings are finalised and the case is closed
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Appendix C: Statutory powers used by the Commission
The Commission regularly uses its statutory powers, though not in every investigation.
The use of powers depends on the type of serious misconduct allegation under
investigation. For example, if the Commission suspects that the alleged serious
misconduct is, or may be, occurring and is unable to obtain evidence using
traditional investigation methods it may apply to use powers such as telephone
interceptions and surveillance devices to augment the investigation.
Similarly, if an individual, public authority or other body is unwilling to provide the
Commission with documentary or other information the Commission believes
necessary for the investigation of serious misconduct, the Commission may issue
notices requiring the production of those documents or information.
As a result, the use of these powers varies from investigation to investigation and
from year to year. The Commission seeks to deploy the range of powers available to
it in the most operationally-appropriate manner. The figures in Table 17 reflect the
approach taken in investigations conducted in 2017-18.

Table 17: Statutory powers used by the Commission
Statutory power

2016-17

2017-18

s 94:	Notices served by the Commission to
produce a statement of information

3

6

s 95: 	Notices served by the Commission to
obtain documents and other things

148

162

Search warrants issued to the Commission

3

24

s 103: 	Approvals for the acquisition and use of an
assumed identity given by the Commission

12

15

s 121: 	Authorities to conduct controlled
operations granted by the Commission

1

2

s 123: 	Authorities for integrity testing programs
granted by the Commission

1

1

s 148: 	Warrants of apprehension issued by
the Commission

-

-

Warrants and emergency authorisations
issued to the Commission under the
Surveillance Devices Act 1998

8

23

40

36

s 101:

Warrants issued to the Commission under the
Telecommunications (Interception and Access)
Act 1979 (Cth)
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